
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

April 2, 2025 
2:00 p.m. 

Hospital Classrooms 1, 2 & 3 

 
    

 
AGENDA 

 
 

 

 

Mission: Compassionate Care For Every Life We Touch 

Vision: To be our community’s trusted healthcare leader. 

I. Call to Order  Barbara Sowada 

 A.  Roll Call  

B. Pledge of Allegiance   

C. Mission and Vision Marty Kelsey 

D. Mission Moment Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer 

II. Approval of Agenda (For Action)  Barbara Sowada 

A. Requests for Consent Agenda items to be removed to New Business 

(If not removed, no questions/discussion) 

B. Requests for Senior Leader or Board Committee Reports to be removed to New Business 

(if not removed, no questions/discussion) 

III. Community Communication  Barbara Sowada 

IV. Old Business Barbara Sowada 

A. Quarterly Progress Report on Strategic Plans and Goals 

B. Employee Policies – Access to Personnel Files (For Action) 

C. Employee Health Plan (Still in progress)             

D. Professional Practice Review Plan (Still in progress) 

V. Consent Agenda (For Action) Barbara Sowada 

A. Approval of Meeting Minutes 

B. Approval of Capital Expenditure Requests 

C. Approval of Bad Debts  

D. Quality Committee Charter Update  

VI. New Business (For Review and Questions/Comments) Barbara Sowada 

A. Behavioral Health Plan Ann Marie Clevenger, Chief Nursing Officer 

 Dr. Alicia Gray, Chief of Staff 

B. Policies from the Governance Committee  Marty Kelsey 

1. Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents 
at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

2. MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix 

3. Policies, Standards, Plans, Procedures/Processes, Guidelines and Forms 

C. Request from the Medical Staff 

1. Changes to the Emergency Medicine Privileges 

2. Changes to the Pediatric Privileges 

D. Patient Safety  
  

1/171



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

April 2, 2025 
2:00 p.m. 

Hospital Classrooms 1, 2 & 3 

 
    

 
AGENDA 

 
 

 

 

Mission: Compassionate Care For Every Life We Touch 

Vision: To be our community’s trusted healthcare leader. 

VII. Reports 

A. Chief Executive Officer and Guests Verbal Reports 

1. Chief Executive Officer Report  Irene Richardson 

2. Medical Staff Services Chief of Staff Report  Dr. Alicia Gray 

3. County Commissioner Liaison Report  Taylor Jones 

B. Senior Leader and Board Committee Reports 

1. Senior Leader Written Reports 

a. Chief Clinical Officer Kari Quickenden 

b. Chief Experience Officer Cindy Nelson 

c. Chief Financial Officer Tami Love 

d. Chief Nursing Officer Ann Marie Clevenger 

2. Board Committee Written or Verbal Reports 

a. Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee Barbara Sowada 

b. Joint Conference Committee Barbara Sowada 

c. Building and Grounds Committee Craig Rood 

d. Compliance Committee Kandi Pendleton 

e. Governance Committee Marty Kelsey 

f. Quality Committee Barbara Sowada 

g. Human Resources Committee Kandi Pendleton 

h. Finance and Audit Committee Marty Kelsey 

i. Foundation Board Report Craig Rood 

VIII.  Contracts  Suzan Campbell, In-House Counsel 

A. Wolters Kluwer (For Action) 

B. RQI Program Renewal Change Form (For Information, No Action Needed) 

C. University of Utah Telemedicine Master Services Agreement Amendment No. 1 (For Information, 

No Action Needed) 

IX. Education 

A. Veralon: Community Partnerships: A Strategic Imperative, Parts 1 & 2. 

X. Good of the Order Barbara Sowada 

XI. Executive Session (W.S. §16-4-405(a)(ix))       Barbara Sowada 

XII. Action Following Executive Session Barbara Sowada 

XIII. Adjourn Barbara Sowada 

2/171



3/171



DRAFT

Status Draft PolicyStat ID 17347387 

Approved N/A 

Review Due N/A 

Document 
Area 

Employee 
Policies 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES - ACCESS TO PERSONNEL FILE 

Purpose 
MHSC maintains personnel records for each employee and access to these personnel records is 
restricted to the employee to whom the files apply and those who are in the direct line of supervision of 
the employee. 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES - ACCESS TO PERSONNEL FILE 

Purpose 

MHSC is committed to maintaining personnel records in a manner that meets all federal and state laws 
and regulations. To that end, all personnel files will be maintained in the HR Department in either paper 
or electronic format. 

Access to personnel files is restricted to the employee to whom the files pertain and those with a 
legitimate business or operational need in accordance with their supervisory or administrative 
responsibilities. The Director of Human Resources is responsible for maintaining the confidentiality and 
security of personnel records. 

Policy 
I. Access to Personnel Files 

A. Employee files are maintained by the Human Resources (HR) department and are 
considered confidential. 

B. Directors and supervisors may only have access to personnel file information on a 
need-to-know basis. 

C. Personnel file access by current employees and former employees will generally be 
permitted within 10 days of a written request unless otherwise required under state 
law. Personnel files are to be reviewed in the Human Resources department. 

D. Employee files may not be taken outside the HR department. 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES - ACCESS TO PERSONNEL FILE. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17347387/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 1 of 2

4/171



DRAFT
Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

E. Representatives of government or law enforcement agencies, in the course of their 
duties, may be allowed access to file information. 

Reviewed and Approved: 

HR Committee 

MHSC Board of Trustees 

Policy 

I. Access to Personnel Files 

A. Employee files are maintained by the Human Resources (HR) department and are considered 
confidential. 

B. Directors and supervisors may only have access to personnel file information on a need-to-
know basis. 

C. Employee medical and/or workers compensation information will be maintained in a separate, 
secure file. 

D. Personnel file access by current employees and former employees will generally be permitted 
within 10 days of a written request unless otherwise required under state law. Personnel files 
are to be reviewed in the Human Resources department. 

E. Employee files may not be taken outside the HR department. 

F. Personnel records may be disclosed in compliance with a lawfully issued subpoena or court 
order. If such a request is received, MHSC will notify the employee unless prohibited by law or 
a court directive. 

II. Relation to the MHSC Public Records Release Policy 

Personnel records maintained by MHSC are confidential and not considered public records under the 
Wyoming Public Records Act (W.S. 16-4-203(d)(iii)). As a result, personnel files are not subject to public 
disclosure except as required by law. 

Requests for personnel records will be handled in accordance with MHSC's internal policies and 
applicable federal and state laws. Employment contracts and agreements that set forth terms and 
conditions of employment may be available for public inspection, but all other personnel-related records 
remain confidential. 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES - ACCESS TO PERSONNEL FILE. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17347387/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 2 of 2

5/171



 

MINUTES FROM THE REGULAR MEETING 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

March 5, 2025 

The Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County met in regular session on 

March 5, 2025, at 2:00 p.m. with Dr. Barbara Sowada, President, presiding. 

CALL TO ORDER 

Dr. Sowada welcomed everyone and called the meeting to order.  

Dr. Sowada requested a roll call and announced there was a quorum. The following Trustees were 

present: Judge Nena James, Mr. Marty Kelsey, Ms. Kandi Pendleton, Mr. Craig Rood, and Dr. 

Barbara Sowada.  

Officially present during the meeting: Ms. Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer; Dr. Alicia 

Gray, Chief of Medical Staff; Mr. Geoff Phillips, Legal Counsel; and Mr. Taylor Jones, 

Sweetwater Board of County Commissioners. 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Dr. Sowada led the attendees in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Mission and Vision 

Mr. Kelsey read aloud the mission and vision statements. 

Mission Moment 

Ms. Richardson shared a mission moment involving the mass casualty experience on February 14. 

She said it was amazing to see our entire team come together. She said we train, we prepare, and 

we took care of patients and families in a compassionate way. Ms. Richardson said we have 

wonderful physicians and staff. She said Dr. Ann Marie Clevenger, Chief Nursing Officer, did a 

very nice job leading Incident Command.  

Judge James said she went to the Walk In Clinic twice and got such good care. She said the people 

were great. She said she was able to get in quickly, get good care, and the people there helped her 

a lot.  

AGENDA 

Dr. Sowada asked for requests for any items to be moved from the Consent Agenda to New 

Business. There were requests to move the Access to Personnel File, Revised Meeting Agenda 

Template, and Professional Practice Review Plan to New Business. Dr. Sowada asked if there were 

requests for Senior Leader or Board Committee Reports to be removed to New Business. There 

were requests to move Finance and Audit Committee and Quality Committee to New Business. 

The motion to approve the agenda with the items noted as moved to New Business as requested 

was made by Ms. Pendleton; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried.  

  

6/171



 

 

Minutes of the March 5, 2025, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 2 of 6 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

The motion to approve the minutes of the February 5, 2025, regular meeting as presented was 

made by Judge James; second by Ms. Pendleton. Motion carried.  

COMMUNITY COMMUNICATION 

 

There were no comments.  

 

OLD BUSINESS 

Quarterly Progress Report on Strategic Plans and Goals 

Dr. Sowada said this would be mentioned later in the meeting.  

 

Employee Health Plan 

 

Dr. Clevenger said the Plan has been rewritten and is now going through the appropriate committee 

review. She said it will be brought back when ready for consideration. 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

 

The motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Ms. 

Pendleton. Motion carried. Items approved: Capital Expenditure Requests, Bad Debts, Dress Code 

Employee Policy. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

Quality Committee Charter Update 

 

Dr. Sowada asked Trustees to let Ms. Stephanie Mlinar, Director of Quality, know if there are any 

questions/concerns regarding the proposed changes.  

 

Capital Budget Amendment 

 

Mr. Kelsey said we are getting close to the $3M capital budget limit. He said staff believes we will 

exceed the total with the new capital expenditure requests and some other things coming up so 

they  recommend the amount be amended from $3M to $4M. Ms. Tami Love, Chief Financial 

Officer, said we believe we will need $1M additional to complete the projects for the fiscal year. 

Mr. Rood said we have the revenue for it and the requests are all things we need. The motion to 

approve the capital budget amendment as presented was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Mr. Rood. 

Motion carried.  

 

Request for County Capital Funds 

 

Ms. Love said Mr. Phillips drafted a letter to the County Commissioners and we hope to present it 

to them at their March 18 meeting. She said it addresses the carryover funds they are holding for 

us. We plan to request funds for an OB Renovation Project and Roof Replacement Project. Mr. 

Rood said the projects are timely. Ms. Richardson said our plans were always to use the funds for 

solid projects like these. Dr. Sowada thanked Mr. Phillips for preparing the letter. Mr. Phillips said 

7/171



 

 

Minutes of the March 5, 2025, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 3 of 6 

 

the Commissioners and Mr. John DeLeon of the County Attorney’s Office have been wonderful 

with their support of the Hospital. The motion to approve presenting the letter to the 

Commissioners as discussed was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Judge James. Motion carried.  

 

Employee Policies – Access to Personnel File 

 

Mr. Kelsey asked about an item of concern he asked Mr. Phillips to investigate concerning requests 

from a third party. Mr. Phillips had proposed changes but they were not included in the board 

meeting packet until earlier in the day so Trustees may not have had a chance to review the updated 

information. The motion to approve the policy as updated by Mr. Phillips was made by Ms. 

Pendleton; second by Judges James. Motion carried.  

 

Finance and Audit Committee  

 

Mr. Kelsey said expenses are within budget. He said when we approved the FY2025 budget, we 

approved increasing FTEs by a certain number. He said we have a lot more employees than we 

had in 2024. He said in January 2024, our expense as a percentage of net patient revenue was 

96.6%. He said this January, it was 99.1%. Mr. Kelsey said he wants to make the observation and 

stress the need to watch all key metrics. 

 

Revised Meeting Agenda Template 

 

Dr. Sowada thanked Mr. Kelsey, Ms. Pendleton, and Ms. Richardson for putting the new template 

together. Ms. Pendleton suggested moving approval of minutes under the Consent Agenda. Mr. 

Kelsey said when we move items at the beginning of the meeting, it would be nice to note where 

it is moved for reference.  

 

Professional Practice Review Plan 

 

Dr. Sowada said she understood there was only one change, however it would be nice to see the 

whole document. She said we can use it as an educational piece and requested the complete 

document be presented to the Board for review. 

 

Quality Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said at an American Hospital Association Rural Hospitals meeting, a leader from 

Ivinson noted CMS requires hospital boards to spend 25% of their time discussing quality. The 

rationale is since Covid, the quality measures in many hospitals have deteriorated. In hospitals 

where there is a focus on quality and discussion in public, measures seem to improve. Ms. 

Pendleton suggested focusing on some items more in-depth. Dr. Sowada said we will get a refresh 

on our public measures and we will figure out how to implement what is recommended.  

 

REPORTS 

 

Chief Executive Officer Report 

 

Ms. Richardson said we continue to do great work on our strategic plan. She thanked Ms. Mlinar 

for developing a wonderful format to present information. Ms. Richardson said we get updates at 

the Performance Improvement and Patient Safety Committee (January was Patient Experience and 

8/171



 

 

Minutes of the March 5, 2025, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 4 of 6 

 

Employee Experience, February was Quality and Safety, March is Community Outreach and 

Growth, and Financial Stewardship), and included at the Quality Committee meetings. Ms. 

Richardson said she asked Senior Leaders to identify data for a flash report. She said we can never 

have enough data because we use that to make decisions. Ms. Richardson provided a quick 

legislative update and thanked our legislators. She said she presented at the Green River Chamber 

and the information was well-received. Ms. Richardson thanked Mr. Rood for attending. Ms. 

Richardson said with the local tragedy on February 14, we saw a large influx of patients and 

families. She said our Emergency Department saw so many people. She said the Clinics were 

wonderful to help and everyone pulled together to work as a team. She expressed our condolences 

to the families impacted. She said Governor Gordon held a press conference and was very 

complimentary of our hospital and expressed appreciation. Ms. Richardson said Mayor Mickelson 

invited her to participate in community town hall meetings in February. She said it is good for 

everybody to know how things will impact us. Ms. Richardson said she was invited to participate 

in the Inside Stakeholders Meeting. She thanked SWEDA for inviting her. She said economic 

development is so important to our recruitment and retention efforts. She said she participated in 

some really great sessions at the AHA Rural Healthcare Conference in San Antonio. She said it 

was great because participants are from entities more similar to us. Dr. Sowada and Ms. Richardson 

attended a special CEO and Board Chair session. Ms. Richardson said the agenda was wonderful. 

The conference will be held next year February 8-11 in San Antonio. Ms. Richardson said Doctor’s 

Day is officially March 30 and we are celebrating April 10. She thanked Ms. Kerry Downs, 

Medical Staff Services Director, for arranging for the Wyoming Association of Medical Staff 

Services (WyAMSS) Conference to be held at our location April 3 and 4. Ms. Richardson invited 

the Board to attend. In conclusion, Ms. Richardson thanked the staff for truly living our mission, 

vision, and values every day. Dr. Sowada thanked Ms. Richardson for her report. 

 

Medical Staff Services Chief of Staff Report 

 

Dr. Gray reported Dr. Brianne Crofts was honored at the last General Medical Staff meeting for 

her leadership and dedication. Dr. Kyle Hoffman recently presented to the Rock Springs High 

School Health Academy. Dr. Gray said several medical staff committees convened. They approved 

a scholarship for a Wyoming WWAMI (Washington, Wyoming, Alaska, Montana and Idaho) 

student who had a paper accepted to present at an upcoming conference. Dr. Gray thanked 

everyone involved in the mass casualty event. She said the teamwork of our physicians 

(emergency, surgery, pediatrics, OB, anesthesia, and others) was wonderful. She commended 

everyone for coming together. Dr. Gray asked the Trustees to please let her know if there is other 

information they would like to have her report. She said she appreciates the opportunity. 

 

County Commissioner Liaison Report 

 

Commissioner Jones said we have 25% property tax reform and we are still working on changing 

the valuation model. He said the County asked for reductions last year and we are probably 

planning to ask again this year. He said we don’t know where this will go or the full impact. He 

said the County does have reserves; they prefer to not dip into them. Dr. Sowada thanked 

Commissioner Jones for being our liaison. She said the relationship the County has with the 

Hospital is very good. She thanked the entire Board of County Commissioners. Commissioner 

Jones said they are a great group and he enjoys working with them and with the Hospital.  

 

  

9/171



 

 

Minutes of the March 5, 2025, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 5 of 6 

 

CONTRACTS 

 

Consent Agenda 

 

Mr. Kelsey said the items are not really consent agenda due to being informational.  

 

GOOD OF ORDER 

 

Mr. Rood said a report from the Foundation did not make it into the meeting packet. He said the 

final number for the Red Tie Gala was $212,000. He said the next event is Casino Night in August. 

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

The motion to go into executive session at 3:03 p.m. to discuss legal, personnel, and items 

considered confidential by law was made by Ms. Pendleton; second by Judge James. Motion 

carried.  

 

RECONVENE INTO REGULAR SESSION 

 

The motion to leave the executive session and return to the regular session at 5:02 p.m. was made 

by Ms. Pendleton; second by Mr. Rood. Motion carried.  

 

ACTION FOLLOWING EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

Pursuant to the notice provided in the agenda, the Board of Trustees held discussions and action 

was taken.  

 

The motion to grant clinical privileges and appointments to the medical staff as discussed in 

executive session was made by Judge James; second by Dr. Sowada. Motion carried. 

 

Credentials Committee Recommendations to the Board of Trustees for Granting Clinical 

Privileges and Granting Appointment to the Medical Staff from February 11, 2025 

1. Initial Appointment to Associate Staff (1 year) 

 Dr. Stephen “Buck” Wallace, Emergency Medicine 

 Dr. Kara Willenburg, Infectious Disease 

2. Initial Appointment to Active Staff (2 year) 

 Dr. Bramananda Koduri, Pediatrics 

3. Reappointment to Active Staff (2 year) 

 Dr. Raoul Joubran, Gastroenterology 

 Dr. Preetpal Grewal, OB/GYN 

 Dr. David Duckwitz, Podiatric Surgery 

4. Reappointment to Consulting Staff (2 year) 

 Dr. Robert Joodi, Tele-Radiology (VRC) 

 Dr. Ronald Sonken, Tele-Radiology (VRC) 

 Dr. David Tague, Tele-Radiology (VRC) 

 Dr. Ann Bruno, Maternal Fetal Medicine (U of U) 

 Dr. Blake Newman, Tele-Neuro (U of U) 

 

10/171



 

 

Minutes of the March 5, 2025, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 6 of 6 

 

The motion to approve contracts and authorize the CEO to sign as discussed in executive session 

was made by Judge James; second by Ms. Pendleton. Motion carried. 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

There being no further business to discuss, the meeting was adjourned at 5:03 p.m.  

 

 

  

  __________________________________ 

  Dr. Barbara Sowada, President 

 

Attest: 

 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Judge Nena James, Secretary 

11/171



Separator Page

FY 25 45 Power Plant Roof Replacement and Fall Protection

12/171



13/171



14/171



15/171



16/171



17/171



18/171



19/171



20/171



21/171



22/171



23/171



Separator Page

FY 25 46 Synology Offsite Backup

24/171



25/171



26/171



27/171



28/171



29/171



30/171



31/171



 
 

                     ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date:4/2/2025  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: 
New Business – Board Quality Charter 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ☒ Revision 

 ☐ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: 
Made edits to the attendees of the meeting.  Added the non-voting community 
member. 

 

 Board Committee Action: 

As above 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     ☐ For Review Only 

 ☒ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 ☐ In House Comments:. 

 ☐ Board  Comments:. 

 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: 
Recommend approval following second read. 

32/171



����	
������������������������������  !�"#$�%&��'#"�#(��	#�%&�� ���	)#*���!#�� +	������,�'�
-�.�*�/#)#*��01234�562789:�;1<<899==�;>239=3�?@A@BCBD@�EF�GHIGE?BJ�KL#� 	! �
#��M��L#�+	������N�))���##�ON�))���##P��
�����

�
���L#�Q��!$��M�K!	
�##
�OQ��!$P��*���
�R$	���!���*$��"#!
�/L��$	��#
�!#/�!$�*/��L#�$#��"#!���M�
�M#S�T	�����S� ���#*�U�#*�#!#$���!#�(��L��L#�#V #������*��M���*��*	�	
��) !�"#)#*���
�
#��M�!�L�W#��(X�@BY@��X�Z=[\8981\�1]�562789:J�+	���������.#)�!����̂�
 ������M��(##�(��#!�N�	*���Ô�
 ����P��
��� ���#*�U�#*�#!#$���))��)#*�����#V�#��#*�#S���*
�
�#*����	
�*/�W#
�� !�����#
�M�!� !��#

��) !�"#)#*�������L�#"#��L#�W#
���	���)#
�M�!��	!� ���#*�
X��X�KL#��*
���	�#��M�.#$���*#�O�_.P�$#R*#
�L#���L���!#�T	�������
�̀�L#�$#/!##����(L��L�L#���L���!#�
#!"��#
�M�!��*$�"�$	��
��*$� � 	�����*
��*�!#�
#��L#���-#��L��$��M�$#
�!#$�L#���L��	���)#
��*$��!#���*
�
�#*��(��L��	!!#*�� !�M#

��*���-*�(�#$/#Xa�KL#��_.�$#R*#
��L#�
�V�ObP�$�)#*
��*
��M�T	�������
c�dX�?AFBS�$�#
�*���L�!)�eX�@fCBghS�$#��"#!#$�(��L�	��	**#�#

�!��$#���
�iX�BFFB;@fjBS�W�
#$��*��L#�W#
��
��#*��R��-*�(�#$/#��	!!#*�����"����W�#�kX�BFFf;fBD@S�$�#
�*���(�
�#�!#
�	!�#
�lX�B5Hf@A0gBS�W�
#$�L#���L�*##$
�*��� #!
�*����L�!���#!�
���
�bX�GA@fBD@m;BD@BIBZS�!#
 #��M	���*$��	
��)�n#$�����!$�*/���� ���#*�
�*##$
��*$�"��	#
���X�A69>1389:J��X�KL#���))���##�L�
�*��#V !#

#$��!��) ��#$� �(#!��!��	�L�!���X����X�I=op1\o8q87898=oJ�rstuv�wxtyz{|�}s~~z{{���}�tu{�u����{uz���v�������������z�zty��s�|�t{��{{��������{�t{�u~�~suzty��syz�|�{t{��s~��syz�|������������}s�|uz��{����������~suzty��s��z{ty�s������{�t{�u�}sx�{| �t�����s���
33/171



���	
�����
������������������������������������
������������������
��������������
 ���
����
���!��"�
������������
��#�$����#�������#���
 ������
���%�����
������������������&�����������
���
����
����
�����'���
 ����������
 �� ���(��"�
�������������#)������ �������� �
���� ��#�����*�������
���	��������
���
 �*����
��+����#�,*	*+-������������.��"�
����������������#�$����#�������#���
 ������
���%�����
���������������� � �������
�������������
�������
��������������
��������/��"�
����������������#�$����#�������#�������
���%�����
������������������&������0���� ���� ����������
 � �������
����������1��2���������+�������+����#�3��
������� ��
� ��#�����&������������4����
��5����#�6������7#���
��8�������
�����&�������
 �9���:��
�����������
���
 ������$��
�����������
����
���� ���
���

�����
������������;��"�
�������������������
����������<�����
 ������������� ���0����������
����
������������ ����
�������������
�����
 �����������������=��2�����������&������0���

���*	*+�*�
��*����
��+����#�*�
���
 �3
����
��
����������*�
����
 ��������
 ������*�
���������>��� ������������������?��� �������������$����#��
 ���������������������#��
���)����� ��
 ����������&������0����������
 �����������������@���
��������������������������������$����#�������#���
 ������
�)��
���� �������A��2������
 ������
�B����
���������#������ �
������ �����#���������������
�)��
���� ��$����#������������
� ����������&������0��������������
��!C��7��'�������+�
����D�� ����������������������������<���
����������������������  ����
�������
��
����
��������������������$����#)����� ���������
��������������
�� �
�������
�������� ���������������@
���
 ������ ������
���$������
����!!��2������
 ��>��� ������������������ �
������ �����#���������������
�)��
���� ��$����#����������
�� � ��!(��2������
 ��� ������
�����������������>��� ��	E��FGHIGJKLKGMN����9�������������
���������������������������������O�����,(-�>��� �����������
�����������������������������������3%��������P@�����������"� ���3%�����
���P@�����������6�
�
����P@�����������4����
��P@�������������
����P@�����"� ����P@��>�� �
��,"P>-���
��5����#�8���������5����#�8����������
 �
�����������
�������#�����
����������
�� ��#�����>��� �*���� �
���3����������������������������������
�������������!��9�����������#��
������
#� ����������@��������������������%��������������� �������������
������������������������������������
 �������������
 ��� ���������
������
�������������QRSTU�VWSXYZ[�\R]]YZẐ̂�\_STẐT̀�âZTŶb̂U�cdedcdf̀�ghhYiYSX�iRj[�SZ�_ZZjkeelm̂ ẐmSẐT]̂]RTYSX̀jRXYi[lZSZ̀iR]ejRXYi[enofcndpfè�\Rj[TYq_Z�r�dcdf�s ]̂RTYSX�tRljYZSX�Rh�um̂ ẐmSẐT�\RWvZ[ wSq̂�d�Rh�x
34/171



���	

�������������
����
�
��������������� !�"�� ����#�#�"!��$���� %%�&%��$��'( )��!�*�+ ,�����-�.�%�/��&��0,�1����&����-� �#��$����#�1�#( )�,��+&���")��%&,��,��1 �/����2$������#�1�#( )��� %%����"�,���$ ))��&��$ 1��1&�����+,�1�)������3��4�� ++&����#�/&��(���!����"�,�� !���,1��&���$��/&�������� �� ��&�51&��������"�,��6��	

����78�
���
9�4��2$��/&���������$ ))�������&��$)!� �#� �����#�#��6.��:
;�<��9�4��2$��=&��������>�))�,��() ,)!�,�/��1�� �#�,�1��>��$��%&))&>����,�+&,����?��2$���&��$)!�@( )��!-�� %��!-� �#�+ �������A+�,���/��,�+&,���&%��$��B&�+�� )����=����,��%&,���#�/ ,�� �#���#�/ �#�@( ,��,)!� �#� ��( )�,�+&,���3��C�,�&(��C %��!�D1����-� ���$�!�&//(,�E��F&&��= (���4� )!����GF=4H� �#�I �)(,���&#�� �#�D%%�/���4� )!����GI�D4H�,�+&,���J��D�1�,&������&%�= ,��0) ��D1 )( ��&�-������ ��( ))!�K��0,&�,����&��+�,%&,� �/����+,&1������� �#L&,�� %��!��& )�� �� )����#�>��$��#����M�#�+,�&,��!� ,� ������$��0.0C�0) �� �#L&,�&�$�,�+,�&,�������#����M�#�"!��$��0.0C�=&����������� /��&��+) ��%&,� ��N��2$�� ��( )�0.0C�0) ��O��2$��,��()���&%��$��"����� )�=()�(,��&%�C %��!��(,1�!�P��4//,�#�� ��&��,�+&,���>$���,�/��1�#�?Q��.�%�/��&��0,�1����&��0,&�, ��4��( )�D1 )( ��&��??��0�,%&,� �/��.�+,&1������ �#�0 ������C %��!�G0.0CH�0) ��4��( )�D1 )( ��&�� �#�0�,%&,� �/��.�+,&1������G0.H �#�0 ������C %��!�F�+&,��?���C(�� ,!�&%�/)���/ )�/&��, /��,�1��>�� ��( ))!�?3��4(#����&%�/,�#���� )����+,&/���� ��)� ����1�,!��>&�G�H�!� ,��?E��4(#����&%�+��,�,�1��>-�&��&����+,&%����&� )�+, /��/���1 )( ��&���GR00DH-�%&/(��#�+,&%����&� )�+, /��/���1 )( ��&���GI00DH��&���&,���-� ��( ))!�6..��S�T�
�������9�4��UV�C� ��3J5�5P?Q��'( )��!�� � �������%(�/��&���%&,�$� )�$�/ ,��% /�)�����W�/&�M#���� )��!W����(���!W�>$���)��")&>���W�+��,�,�1��>��C("��/��&��4��X��UV�C� ��3J5�5P?Q�G#H�=��4))�@( )��!� �#�+ ������� %��!�# � ��$ ))�"��/&���#�,�#��$��+,&+�,�!�&%��$��B&�+�� )��*��=&�M#���� )��!��$ ))�"��� ��� ���#-�" ��#�&��%())�,��+�/��&%��$��+ �����Y��,��$���&�+,�1 /!� �#����Z��+����>��$�B&�+�� )�0&)�/!� �#�C� ��� �#�I�#�, )�F��() ��&����&1�,������$��/&�M#���� )��!�&%�@( )��!� �#�+ ������� %��!�>&,Z��[\]̂_�̀a]bcde�f\ggcddhh�fi]̂dĥj�khd̂chlh_�mnonmnpj�qrrcsc]b�s\te�]d�iddtuoovwhhdw]dĥghg\̂c]bjt\bcsevd]djs\got\bcseoxypmxnzpoj�f\têc{id�|�nmnp�}hg\̂c]b�~\vtcd]b�\r��whhdw]dĥ�f\a�de �]{h�z�\r��
35/171



����	
��������������������������  !����"�� �#��$���	�%&'()*+(,-./012345-6.-678('39:;3-):<3634(<=>4-'	�?@A?@BCBDE??FCG�HI�J

IKL��%���������MM���N���O����	���M�	�P�Q	RR�����EN��P�N	�ST����	��KJP����ST����	���������	����U��%I
������M�
�����P����������MV		�Q��������%�����M@	�W������H	M�IUU�T������%���KX�Y�M����ZT���	�	U��	��T��MP����P��U	�R���	�N���O����MU	��P������	���K[\\'],-.9;̂-_]('.12(<3*0:]̀ `3**--abcdbaeaf;̂-_]('.])̂'2+*--+gbdbaeafh-,3-i-.(6.[\\'],-.9_]('.:;('*-'9̂;-12(<3*0:]̀ `3**--JP�j	��Mk�����%Q	RR�����:(*-l]'09_]('.:]̀ `3**--+m:]̀ `3**--:;('*-'+3̂*<-912(<3*0:]̀ `3**--H$�Qj	��M	UJ�������='3l36(<[.]\*3]69nbgbaecoh-,3+3]69nbadbaecopcbaqbaeaepgbcbaeae7egbedbaeaf7ecbcdbaead

rstuvwxtyz{|}s~~z{{��}�tu{�u���{uz���v�����������z�zty�s�|t{�{{��������{�t{�u~�~suzty��syz�|�{t{��s~��syz�|�����������}s�|uz��{�������~suzty�s��z{tys�����{�t{�u}sx�{| �t���s��
36/171



 

 

Sweetwater Behavioral 

Health Clinic 
   

Business Proposal 

37/171



  

  

38/171



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS  

Introduction ....................................................... 4 

1. Executive Summary ...................................... 5 

2. Business Description ..................................... 6 

3. Mental Health Services ................................. 7 

4. Market Analysis ............................................. 9 

5. Organizational Structure ............................. 10 

6. Marketing and Sales Plan ........................... 11 

7. Financial Plan .............................................. 12 

8. Conclusion……………...…………...………. 14 

  

39/171



 
  
 

 4 

INTRODUCTION 

 

 

     Mental health care is a critical need in Wyoming, where vast landscapes and rural 

communities often create unique challenges in accessing quality behavioral health services. 

Our proposed behavioral health clinic aims to bridge this gap by offering comprehensive, 

accessible, and compassionate care to individuals across the state. By leveraging innovative 

treatment approaches and fostering a supportive environment, we strive to empower 

individuals to achieve mental well-being and improve their overall quality of life. This proposal 

outlines our strategic plan to establish a leading behavioral health clinic in Wyoming, dedicated 

to meeting the diverse needs of our community with the highest standards of care. 

 

 

40/171



 
  
 

 

 5 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Sweetwater Behavioral Health Clinic (SBHC) aims to provide comprehensive, accessible, and 

compassionate behavioral health care services to individuals in our community, fostering 

mental well-being and improving quality of life. Our goal is to improve access to behavioral 

health care by offering evidence-based, patient-centered services, including therapy, 

psychiatric evaluation, medication management, and crisis intervention, with a strong 

emphasis on the role of a Psychiatric Mental Health Nurse Practitioner (PMHNP) in delivering 

care. 

 

 Opportunity: Improve access for mental health services 

 Mission: To provide comprehensive, accessible, and compassionate behavioral health 

care to individuals in Sweetwater County, fostering mental well-being and improving quality 

of life  

 Solution: Implement a behavioral health clinic at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

 Market focus: Individuals of all ages seeking mental health support, including those with 

anxiety, depression, substance use disorders, and other behavioral health issues. 

 Competitive advantage: Many individuals seeking mental health services reach out to 

MHSC as the community’s trusted healthcare leader.  

 

41/171



 
  
 

 

 6 

2. BUSINESS DESCRIPTION 

Sweetwater Behavioral Health Clinic will be a community-focused outpatient behavioral health 

clinic catering to individuals of all ages struggling with mental health disorders, substance use 

issues, and co-occurring conditions. The clinic will collaborate with local healthcare providers, 

schools, law enforcement, and community organizations to address the growing need for 

behavioral health services in the region. The PMHNP will serve as a key provider, leading 

patient care through psychiatric evaluations, medication management, and treatment planning. 

 

 

 

**Southwest Counseling will continue to provide emergency services for MHSC.  **

This Photo by Unknown Author is licensed under CC BY-NC-ND 

42/171



 
  
 

 

 7 

3. MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES 

 

 Psychiatric evaluations and medication management provided by PMHNP  

 Individual Therapy 

 Group Therapy 

 Family Therapy 

 Couples Therapy 

 Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT) 

 Dialectical Behavior Therapy (DBT) 

 Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing (EMDR) 

 Personalized Treatment for Anxiety, Depression and Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder 

(PTSD) and other mental health related disorders 

 Substance Use Disorder Treatment and Recovery Programs 

 Treatment for ADHD, Conduct Disorders, and Oppositional Defiant Disorders 

 Psychoeducation 

 Crisis Intervention 

 Telehealth Services for Remote Accessibility 

 Community Outreach and Education Programs 

 Case Management 

 Support Groups 

 

43/171



 
  
 

 

 8 

 

4. MARKET ANALYSIS 

     Sweetwater County has a critical need for expanded behavioral health services, given the 

increasing rates of mental health disorders and substance abuse. Limited access to psychiatric 

care and long waiting times for appointments contribute to worsening outcomes for individuals 

in need. Our clinic will address this gap by providing timely and affordable care. The inclusion 

of a PMHNP will allow for more flexible scheduling, increased availability of medication 

management services, and a patient-centered approach to holistic care.  According to recent 

data, Wyoming has one of the highest suicide rates in the nation with a rate of 31 per 100,000 

individuals, more than twice the national average. The state also struggles with limited mental 

health resources, with large rural areas having little to no access to psychiatric care.  

Additionally, Wyoming’s behavioral health workforce shortage further exacerbates the lack of 

accessible services, making it crucial to establish additional mental health facilities like SBHC 

to meet the growing demands. These statistics highlight the critical need for accessible and 

effective behavioral health services. 

     In the most recent MHSC Critical Health Needs Assessment (CHNA) in 2019 the number 

one priority for MHSC to focus on was increased access to Mental Health Care.  Multiple 

comments and feedback were provided regarding mental health providers, lack of access to 

treatment and the number of patients admitted under Title 25 (involuntary detention) hold that 

cannot be transferred due to lack of beds in the state (CHNA, 2019).  CHNA reported there are 

440 residents for each mental health provider in Sweetwater County compared to 310 

residents for each mental health provider in the state.  The need for additional mental health 

providers, including psychiatry, was identified by almost every individual interviewed in this 

survey.  

 

 Competition: Southwest Counseling, Private practice, Castle Rock Medical Center, and 

Aspen Mountain Medical Center 

 SWOT analysis: This SWOT analysis provides a comprehensive overview of the internal 

strengths and weaknesses, as well as external opportunities and threats that the behavioral 

health clinic may encounter.  By leveraging strengths and opportunities while addressing 

weaknesses and threats, the clinic can navigate challenges and achieve its mission of 

improving mental health in Sweetwater County 

 

44/171



 
  
 

 

 9 

STRENGTHS 

 Experienced Staff: 
Qualified and licensed 
medical professionals 
providing high quality 
care 

 Comprehensive 
Services: Offering a 
wide range of services 

 Community Focus: 
Commitment to 
meeting the unique 
needs of the Wyoming 
community. 

 Innovative Treatment 
Approaches: 
Utilization of evidence-
based treatment 

 Accessibility: 
Providing Telehealth 
options to reach 
remote and 
underserved areas 

 

WEAKNESSES 

 Resource 
Limitations: Potential 
challenges in securing 
funding for initial setup 
and ongoing 
operations 

 Staffing Challenges: 
Recruiting and 
retaining qualified 
professionals in rural 
areas 

 Limited Awareness: 
Initial lack of 
awareness about 
clinic’s services 

 Infrastructure: 
Location for clinic 

OPPORTUNITIES 

 Growing Demand: 
Increasing awareness 
and acceptance of 
mental health care, 
leading to a growing 
demand for services 

 Partnerships: 
Opportunities to 
collaborate with local 
healthcare providers, 
schools, and 
community 
organizations 

 Expansion: Potential 
to expand services and 
reach by adding new 
programs and 
enhancing telehealth 
capabilities. 

 Grant Funding: 
Availability of grants 
and funding programs 
for mental health 
initiatives and rural 
healthcare 

THREATS 

 Economic Factors: 

Economic downturns 
that could affect 
funding and patient 
affordability 

 Regulatory Changes: 
Changes in healthcare 
regulations and 
policies that may 
impact operations 

 Competition: 
Presence of 
established 
competitors offering 
similar services in the 
area 

 Stigma: Ongoing 

stigma associated with 
mental health that may 
deter individuals from 
seeking help 

 

SWOT

45/171



 
  
 

 

 10 

5. ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE 

 

 Executive Director: Psychiatrist to oversee PMHNP operations, compliance, and strategic 

growth $800-$1200/NP/Month 

 Psychiatric Mental Health Nurse Practitioner: Provides psychiatric evaluations, 

medication management, and treatment planning $117,000/year 

 Registered Nurse: Patient care $89,700/year OR Medical Assistant: Patient care 

$47,000/year 

 Administrative Staff: Manage scheduling, billing, and patient support $40,000/year 

 

Future Psychotherapy Growth  

 Licensed Clinical Therapist/Counselors: Therapy services $79,000/year 

 Case Managers/Social Workers: Coordinate patient care and community resources 

$76,000/year 

 

 

46/171



 
  
 

 

 11 

6. MARKETING AND SALES PLAN 

Our market and sales plan for the behavioral health clinic is designed to address the growing 

demand for mental health services in Wyoming. We aim to establish a strong brand identity 

and build awareness through a mix of online and offline marketing channels, including social 

media campaigns, a user-friendly website, community partnerships, and participation in local 

events. By leveraging telehealth options, we can reach remote and underserved areas, 

ensuring accessibility for all residents. Our client acquisition strategy will focus on referral 

programs, special promotions, and collaborations with local healthcare providers. To retain 

clients, we will prioritize personalized care, regular follow-up communication, and ongoing 

support. Through these efforts, we aim to create a loyal client base and position our clinic as a 

trusted provider of behavioral health services in Wyoming. 

 Marketing activities:  

o Media Advertising: We will leverage traditional media channels such as 

newspapers, magazines, television, and radio to build brand awareness and 

promote our services 

o Direct Mail: Sending informative and visually appealing mailers to residents and 

businesses to introduce our clinic and its services. 

o Seminars or Business Conferences: Hosting and participating in seminars and 

conferences to share knowledge about mental health, networking with other 

professionals, and establishing our clinic as a thought leader. 

o Digital Marketing: Utilizing social media, email marketing, search engine 

optimization (SEO), and blogging to engage with our audience online, share 

valuable content, and drive traffic to our website 

o Word of Mouth or Fixed Signage: Encouraging satisfied clients to share their 

positive experiences and placing attractive signage in strategic locations to draw 

attention to our clinic. 

o Informational Talks: Providing free informational talks at our clinic or for local 

businesses offering complementary services to educate the community about 

mental health and our clinic's offerings 

 Sales strategy:  

By leveraging this multi-faceted approach, we aim to establish a strong presence in Wyoming, 

attract new clients, and foster long-lasting relationships with the community.

47/171



 
  
 

 

 12 

7. FINANCIAL PLAN & IMPACT 

 

Financial Plan  

Insurance reimbursements (Medicaid, Medicare, private insurers) 

Sliding-scale fees for uninsured patients? 

Partnerships with local businesses and healthcare organizations 

Grants from federal, state, and local sources 

Financial Impact To calculate the financial impact, we need to estimate the number of intakes 

(90-minute appointments) and follow-up visits (15-minute appointments) per week or month. 

Let’s assume: 

10 intakes per week at $300 each  $3000 per week 

40 follow-up appointments per week at $200 each  $8000 per week 

Weekly Revenue Projections: 

 $3000 (intakes) + $8000 per week (follow-ups) = $11,000 per week 

Monthly Revenue Projections (4 weeks): 

$11,000 X 4 = $44,000 per month 

Annual Revenue Projection (12 months): 

$44,000 x 12 = $528,000 per year 

Billing considerations for Medicare, Medicaid, and Insured Patients: 

CPT Code 90792 (Psychiatric Diagnostic Evaluation with medical services): Typically 

reimbursed at $150-$200 ($200.02) by Medicare/Medicaid, covering initial psychiatric 

evaluations 

CPT Code 90791 (intake/evaluation) ($177.89) 

CPT Code 99213 (15-minute follow-up visit): Reimbursed at approximately $75-$125 ($95.07) 

CPT Code 99214 (25-minute follow-up visit): Reimbursed at approximately $125-$175 

($133.62) 

CPT Code 99215 (40-minute evaluation and management) ($187.37) 

 

48/171



 
  
 

 

 13 

 

When Psychotherapy is added to the clinic. 

CPT Code 90791 (Psychiatric Diagnostic Evaluation without Medical Services): Typically 

reimbursed at $140-$180 by Medicare/Medicaid, covering initial psychiatric evaluations 

($177.89). 

CPT Code 90837 (60-minute psychotherapy session): reimbursed at approximately $130-$200 

($164.48). 

CPT 90838 (60-minute psychotherapy telehealth) ($130.56) 

CPT Code 90853) Group Therapy ($29.97) 

Given these reimbursement rates, SBHC will maximize revenue by ensuring efficient 

scheduling, leveraging telehealth for follow-ups, and optimizing provider time allocation for 

evaluations and medication management.  

Implementation Timeline 

Month 1-3: Secure funding, licensing, and facility location.  Hire staff, including Executive 

Director (remote), & PMHNPs. Establish referral networks. Open clinic and begin service 

delivery 

Month 4-6: Launch marketing campaign and community outreach 

Month 7-9: Hire licensed clinical social workers/counselors  

Month 10-12: Start providing psychotherapy 

 

49/171



 
  
 

 

 14 

      Total  Add'l NP  

 BUDGET  BUDGET  BUDGET  BUDGET  BUDGET  BUDGET  

 Quarter 1  Quarter 2  Quarter 3  Quarter 4  Year 1  Year 2  

          

Total Gross Patient Revenue 88,000.00   132,000.00   132,000.00   132,000.00   484,000.00   1,056,000.00   

          
Total Deductions From 
Revenue (46,640.00)  (69,960.00)  (69,960.00)  (69,960.00)  (256,520.00)  (559,680.00) using 53% ROR 

          

Net Patient Revenue 41,360.00   62,040.00   62,040.00   62,040.00   227,480.00   496,320.00   

          

Expenses          
Salary and Wage (NP, MA, Pt 
Acc) 46,524.00   46,524.00   46,524.00   46,524.00   186,096.00   303,097.00   

Total Fringe Benefits 13,491.96   13,491.96   13,491.96   13,491.96   53,967.84   87,898.13   

Physician Fees 2,400.00   2,400.00   2,400.00   2,400.00   9,600.00   4,800.00   

Office Supplies 400.00   210.00   210.00   210.00   1,030.00   1,200.00   
Insurance - Professional 
Liability 364.00   364.00   364.00   364.00   1,456.00   2,912.00   

Education/Travel 1,250.00   1,250.00   1,250.00   1,250.00   5,000.00   10,000.00   

Recruitment 1,250.00   1,250.00   1,250.00   1,250.00   5,000.00   10,000.00   

Total Operating Expenses 65,679.96   65,489.96   65,489.96   65,489.96   262,149.84   419,907.13   

          

Net Operating Surplus (Loss) (24,319.96)  (3,449.96)  (3,449.96)  (3,449.96)  (34,669.84)  76,412.87   

          

 

 

50/171



 
  
 

 

 15 

8. CONCLUSION 

 

 

 

Sweetwater Behavioral Health Clinic will be a vital resource in Sweetwater County, offering 

accessible and high-quality behavioral health services. By addressing unmet mental health 

and substance use treatment needs, the clinic will improve individual well-being and overall 

community health. The integration of PMHNP will enhance the efficiency and effectiveness of 

psychiatric care, ensuring a patient-centered, holistic approach. We seek support from 

stakeholders to make this vision a reality. Our comprehensive range of services, including 

psychiatric evaluations, individual and group therapy, telehealth options, and community 

outreach programs, will ensure that we meet the diverse needs of our community. By fostering 

partnerships with local organizations and healthcare providers, we will create a network of 

support that enhances the well-being of our residents. Together, we can build a healthier, 

stronger community.

51/171



 
  
 

 

 16 

 

52/171



 
  
 

 

 17 
53/171



 
  
 

 

 18 

 

54/171



 
 

                     ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date:4/2/2025  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: 

 Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and 
Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

 MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix 

 Policies, Standards, Plans, Procedures/Processes, Guidelines and Forms 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ☐ Revision 

 ☒ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: 
. 

 

 Board Committee Action: 

Approved by the Governance Committee at their March 17 meeting. Presented at 
the April Board of Trustees meeting for first review. 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     ☒ For Review Only 

 ☐ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 ☒ In House Comments:. 

 ☒ Board  Comments:. 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: 
. 

55/171



DRAFT

S Draft PS ID 17862650

A N/A

R D N/A

D
A

B 
T

Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies
and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of

Sweetwater County

Board of Trustees

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE:
T            , ,   
     M H  S C ( “H”). I
          H' , 
,   ,         
  S L, I-H C,   ,   
   B  T  H-    .

SCOPE:
T   H-       , , 
 . O     P, S, P, P/
P, G,  F        .

TEXT:
I. P S

A. T B  T ( "B")  M H  S C 
         H, 

Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater
County. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862650/. Copyright © 2025
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 1 of 7

56/171



DRAFT

   H    .

B. T            W. S.
§ 18-8-104,     B     
   H,        
   H’  ,  ,  
    .

C. T B      --    H. T 
   H     S L,   
      H'   
   .

D. T B          
  H. W       H
  ,  B     
     , , ,  
,     H’ , 
,   . A    
   MHSC P & G D A M.

E. T B         ,
  , ,   ,    
     . S   
B'           
 .

II. D  D  R

A. T B  T     , ,     
            
    H.

B. D          
B’  . A    B   
   S L, ,   .

III. P A P

A. A       MHSC P & G D
A M.

IV. P D  D

A. T B  T        
  H      S L, I-
H C   .

B. S L, I-H C,       
        ,  
 H’  ,  ,   .

C. T C C,    S L,   
          .

Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater
County. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862650/. Copyright © 2025
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 2 of 7

57/171



DRAFT

D. A , ,        
    (.., PS). T CEO  
       .

E. T P, S, P, P/P, G,  F 
   . T    
          
   :

1. J C C: D   
        
H ,   , H ,
   .

2. B & G C: D   
   H , ,  
 ,    .

3. C C: D    
   ,  ,  , 
  ( HIPAA ).

4. G C: D    
  B ,  , B 
,  B   .

5. Q C: D     
  ,  ,  , 
 .

6. H R C: D   
    , , , ,
 ,   .

F. A         , 
          B 
T         MHSC P & G
D A M.

G. T B          
     H’ , ,  , 
 . T B  T     
  S L, I-H C,  B ,  
  .

V. D  S R

A. T B          
     S L,   
     B   .

B. S L,  I-H C      
       B’  , 
      B      .

Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater
County. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862650/. Copyright © 2025
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 3 of 7

58/171



DRAFT

C. T      B  T     
         
        . D  
, ,  S L      P,
S, P, P/P, G,  F   
  .

D. T P, S, P, P/P, G,  F 
         
    . T   
     .

VI. R P R

A. A            
     , ,   .

1. T         
C  M & M S (CMS),  
  MHSC, C A H (CAH) , 
  .

2. A       H’ 
   P, S, P, P/P,
G,  F ,     P  G
A M.

3. T CEO, I-H C,  S L   
        
         
 B  T   .

B. P      ,  
,       , ,   .
R         
.

VII. E  B A

A. T       S L  
   B       MHSC P &
G D A M. T    :

1. O        H'
,  ,    (.., 
 ).

2. R     --   (..,
- ,  ).

3. S           
M S      H’ M E
C.

Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater
County. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862650/. Copyright © 2025
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 4 of 7

59/171



DRAFT

B. H,         
   B  T        
H’    .

VIII. U  A R

A. I           
 B , S L    MHSC P &
G D A M.

B. I        ,      
 B   .

C. W  ,  B’        
  , ,   .

IX. R

A. B  T:

1. R   H-    
,     , ,  
.

2. E         H'
, ,   .

3. M     H'  
   .

B. C E O (CEO):

1. O  , ,     H
   .

2. E  S L      
 .

3. R   B        
    .

C. I-H C:

1. D, , ,       
H      .

2. E   ,    
        .

3. E      .

D. S L O H R:

1. O       
      D  H
R  I-H C,    H
    .

2. R         

Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater
County. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862650/. Copyright © 2025
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 5 of 7

60/171



DRAFT

B,     MHSC P & G D
A M.

3. E      .

E. C R: E       
       , :

1. J C C: C   
.

2. B & G C: F    
  .

3. C C: L     .

4. G C: B    .

5. Q C: P     .

6. H R C: E   
.

NOTE: C       
      H’ , , 
 . T        B 
T         
  .

F. S L:

1. D, ,      
      .

2. E      .

3. P          CEO  
B  T.

X. D  U C

A. T           .

1. T B      , 
     .

2. S       ,   ,  
   .

B. T B  ,   ,    
 ,  ,         
      P  G A M.

1. A    ,  ,     ,
         
, ,   .

2. W     ,    

Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater
County. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862650/. Copyright © 2025
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 6 of 7

61/171



DRAFTA S

Step Description Approver Date

 ,      -  - 
      .

3. T H          
   .

XI. W G I D

A. N            H’  
     W G C A, W. S. § 1-39-101
 . T H         ,
  .

References
· W. S. § 18-8-104 (H       )

· W G C A, W. S. § 1-39-101  .

Board of Trustees Approval:

Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater
County. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862650/. Copyright © 2025
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 7 of 7

62/171



DRAFT

Status Draft PolicyStat ID 17868228

Approved N/A

Review Due N/A

Document
Area

Board of
Trustees

MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix

MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17868228/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 1 of 5

63/171



DRAFT

Board of Trustees

MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17868228/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 2 of 5

64/171



DRAFT

MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17868228/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 3 of 5

65/171



DRAFT

MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17868228/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 4 of 5

66/171



DRAFT

Attachments

 3.7.25Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix_Page_1.jpg

 3.7.25Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix_Page_2.jpg

Approval Signatures

Step Description Approver Date

Board of Trustees Approval:

MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17868228/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 5 of 5

67/171



Policies, Standards, Plans, Procedures/Processes, Guidelines and Forms 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE  

The purpose of this policy is to provide a foundational framework for the development, 

approval, maintenance, implementation, and reviewing and revision of operational and clinical 

policies and documents.  To maintain consistency and coherence, this policy governs the 

creation, review, and approval of operational and clinical policies and documents.  

Scope 

This policy governs the development, approval, maintenance, implementation, and review and 

revision of operational and clinical policies and documents that support delegated, day-to-day 

activities of the Hospital. 

Integration with Governance Policy   

This policy incorporates the approval framework established in the Policy for Development, 

Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents and aligns with the MHSC Policy 

& Governance Document Approval Matrix. It governs operational and clinical policies, plans, 

procedures, protocols, and guidelines that support the Hospital’s day-to-day functions. If there 

is a conflict or uncertainty regarding approval authority, the Governance Policy and the Approval 

Matrix take precedence, except where explicitly stated otherwise. Any uncertainties regarding 

approval requirements must be escalated to the Board of Trustees, CEO, or Compliance 

Committee for clarification. 

Definitions 

I. POLICY- formal written documents detailing the overall application of a principle or 

overarching statement. These documents are typically high level statements that provide 

information across the organization. This is the WHY.   

II. PROCEDURE - The desired intentional action steps to be taken by specified persons to 

achieve a certain objective in a defined set of circumstances.   (Ost et al., 2020).This is 

the HOW.  

III. PLAN - A detailed proposal of requirements and/or benchmarks, for doing or achieving 

that clearly identifies the desired outcome. This is the WHAT and WHY.    

IV. PROTOCOL (CLINICAL) – Synonymous with PROCEDURE but specific to clinical patient 

care-related interventions. A series of step-by-step actions, which may include specific 

medications, that may be implemented as needed to respond to and manage a patient’s 

clinical status in specific and specialized circumstances. Protocols are designed to 

standardize and optimize patient care based on current evidence-based clinical 

68/171



guidelines or standards of practice.  Protocols are not a substitute for clinical 

judgment.  This is also the HOW.  Refer to Standing Orders, Protocol and Order Sets 

document.  

V. STANDING ORDERS- Pre-written medication orders and specific instructions from the 

provider that the nurse, respiratory therapist or other licensed health care professional 

can administer or implement in clearly defined situations that do not necessitate 

notification of the provider prior to administration or implementation; universal order in 

that all patients who meet the criteria for the order receive the same treatment. This is 

also the HOW . Standing Orders are not a substitute for clinical judgment.  Refer 

to Standing Orders, Protocol and Order Sets document.  

VI. ORDER SETS -  Order sets are pre-established, computerized, diagnosis-specific protocols 

for the diagnosis and treatment of patients.  This is also the HOW . Order Sets are not a 

substitute for clinical judgment.  Refer to Standing Orders, Protocol and Order 

Sets document.  

VII. GUIDELINE - Recommended actions for a specific situation or type of case.  

A guideline aims to streamline particular processes according to a set routine or sound 

practice. Guidelines are not a substitute for clinical judgment.   (Ost et al., 2020).  

VIII. FORM - A pre-approved printed document. Forms are not a substitute for clinical 

judgment. 

IX. DOWNTIME FORM - may be used in the event of computer system outages. Due to the 

complexity of the electronic medical record (EMR) system, downtime forms may not 

replicate the EMR work flow or match the EMR content.   

Procedure 

I. Drafting, Revising, and Reviewing Policies and Documents  

a. Responsible party/parties: Drafting responsibilities for all new documents or 

revisions are assigned to employees, committees, departments, senior 

management, or medical staff committees, depending upon the document type. 

i. Medical staff policies and documents shall be developed by a medical 

staff committee or delegated to the appropriate hospital staff in 

accordance with the MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval 

Matrix. 

ii. To comply with Critical Access §485.635(a)(2) & (4), an advanced practice 

clinician (APC) will participate on existing Medical Staff committees to 

69/171



draft, review and approve both new and current patient care policies at 

least biennially. 

iii. The Medical Staff Committees will consist of at least one physician and 

advanced practice provider; the Chief Nursing Officer; the Chief Clinical 

Officer; and others as needed pertinent to documents requiring drafting, 

review, or revision. 

II. Procedure for drafting or revising policies and documents. 

a. Verify that no other similar documents exist in the document management 

system or other hospital document repositories, i.e. PolicyStat, Lippincott. 

b. If there is an existing document collaborate with the "owner" to revise.  

c. Conduct a thorough literature review and include any regulatory standards, state 

and federal laws, governing professional organizations, i.e. OSHA, CMS, TJC. 

c. Consider and integrate the most current information/evidence when drafting 

new, revising existing, or reviewing documents Ensure alignment with current 

regulatory standards, legal requirements, and evidence-based practices.   

d. Maintain list of citation references for inclusion in the document.  

 

III. Check list for layout of policies. These headlines must be used. Only unassigned users 

should utilize WORD for creation of documents. 

a. Title 

b. Statement of Purpose 

c. Definitions (if applicable) 

d. Text – body of document 

e. References (if applicable) using APA format 

f. Regulatory Standards (if applicable) 

g. Attachments (if applicable) 

h. Assigned document management system (PolicyStat) users. 

i. Date of approval and name of approval party. 

IV. Check list for maintaining policies and appropriate documents in PolicyStat 

a. Assign document management system users under “Properties” 

i. For department specific policies and documents, select corresponding 

department from dropbox in “Policy Area.” 

ii. Policies and documents that include or affect more than one department, 

choose “Draft Policy in “Policy Area.” 

b. “Approval Work Flow” under “Properties” 

70/171



i. For department specific documents select corresponding department 

from dropbox in  "Approval Work Flow"  

ii. For documents that include or affect more than one department, 

choose Draft Policy in "Approval Work Flow" 

V. Procedure for approval of policies and documents  

a. New or revised Policies, Plans, Procedures, Protocols, standing Orders, Order 

Sets, Guidelines, Standards and Forms shall be reviewed and/or approved 

through the designated approval pathway, appropriate to the content of the 

document. 

i. Documents that include or affect multiple departments must be reviewed 

under the "Draft Policy" pathway in the document management system.  

ii. Department-specific documents are reviewed through the designated 

departmental approval pathway.  

b. Medical staff policies shall be reviewed and approved by the appropriate medical 

staff committee, composed of physicians, the Chief Nursing Officer, the Chief 

Clinical Officer, and at least one advanced practice provider prior to being 

submitted to the Board for final review and approval.  

VI. Approval responsibilities for all operational and clinical policies, plans, procedures, 

protocols, guidelines, and forms are detailed in the MHSC Policy & Governance 

Document Approval Matrix. Any approvals granted outside of the designated 

pathways outlined in the Matrix must be corrected immediately to maintain 

compliance with governance and oversight requirements.  Procedure for the 

communication and education of policies and documents 

a. The policy/document owner is responsible for the communication of new and 

revised policies and documents to all relevant stakeholders. 

i. Multiple communication channels may be used to inform the affected 

stakeholders. 

b. The policy/document owner is responsible for the training of all relevant 

stakeholders regarding all new and revised policies and documents. 

c. Training records shall be maintained in the relevant stakeholders’ personnel files 

in accordance with regulatory and legal requirements. 

d. All approved policies, procedures, and governance documents must be 

maintained in the Hospital’s document management system (PolicyStat, or 

equivalent). Document owners are responsible for ensuring that: 

i. Policies are properly categorized under the correct approval pathway. 

ii. Outdated policies are archived and replaced with the most recent version. 

71/171



iii. Employees have unrestricted access to required policies for compliance 

and operational efficiency. 

 

VII. Staff and Leadership Responsibilities:  

a. The roles and responsibilities outlined in this policy complement the overarching 

governance framework and approval processes established in the Policy for 

Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents at 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County and the MHSC Policy & Governance 

Document Approval Matrix. 

b. Read, become familiar with the information in the available documents on MHSC 

Intranet in the document management system. If changes are needed, staff are 

expected to notify their Director or Leader and follow the relevant process as 

outlined above. 

c. Keep current regarding changes in documents through the document 

management system and other document repositories , i.e. PolicyStat, 

Lippincott.  

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

72/171



 
 

                     ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date:4/2/2025  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: 
Medical Staff Bylaws 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ☒ Revision 

 ☐ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: 

 Changes were made to the Emergency Medicine and Pediatric Privileges 
 The changes are highlighted 
 Back-up documentation for ER privileges is included 

 

 Board Committee Action: 

Approval Needed for the revised privilege forms 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     ☒ For Review Only 

 ☐ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 ☒ In House Comments: Suzan reviewed the policy and was present 
at Credentials Committee and MEC when they reviewed and approved the 
privilege forms.    

 ☐ Board  Comments:Click or tap here to enter text. 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: 
Recommend approval of the privilege forms.   

73/171



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 1 

 

Emergency Medicine Physician Privileges 

Rev: 02/2025 

Delineation of Privileges 

EMERGENCY MEDICINE PRIVILEGES 

 

 Initial appointment    Reappointment    Modification of Privileges 

Applicant 

Check the “Requested” box for each privilege requested. Applicants have the burden of producing information deemed adequate by 

the hospital for a proper evaluation of current competence, current clinical activity, and other qualifications and for resolving any 

doubts related to qualifications for requested privileges. 

To be eligible to request privileges in Emergency Medicine, a practitioner must meet the following minimum threshold criteria: 

 

LICENSURE / 

PROFESSIONAL 

LIABILITY 

INSURANCE 

MD or DO 

Licensed to practice medicine in the State of Wyoming 

Current Wyoming designated DEA Registration and current Wyoming Controlled Substance Registration 

Proof of Professional Liability Insurance in the amounts of at least: Per Claim: $1,000,000.00 Aggregate: 

$3,000,000.00 

EDUCATION / 

TRAINING 

Completion of an approved residency in Emergency Medicine by the Accreditation Council for Graduate 

Medical Education (ACGME) or American Osteopathic Association (AOA).  

CERTIFICATION Certification by the applicable Emergency Medicine board for any clinical privileges for which applicant 

has applied, or be eligible for certification by such board.  Once physician is board certified, 

Maintenance of Board Certification is required.  

 All ER physicians are required to be certified in NRP or PALS.  

 All ER physicians must have completed and become certified in ACLS and ATLS, at least once. 

Once  physician becomes board certified, they do not need to maintain certification in ACLS 

and ATLS. However; if they aren’t yet board certified, ACLS and ATLS certifications needs to 

be kept current and they need to provide documentation of at least 10 hours of trauma-related 

CME per year. 

 If ER physician requests moderate sedation privileges, they must have current certification in 

ACLS, unless board certified. Once they become board certified, they no longer need to 

maintain ACLS certification.  

CLINICAL 

EXPERIENCE 

(INITIAL) 

Applicants for initial appointment must be able to demonstrate active practice in an ED, reflective of the 

scope of privileges requested, in the past 12 months with a census equal to or exceeding 10,000 patient 

visits annually or demonstrate successful completion of an ACGME- or AOA-accredited residency, 

clinical fellowship, or research in a clinical setting within the past 12 months. 
Applicants for initial appointment may be requested to provide documentation of the number and types 

of hospital cases during the past 24 months.  Applicants have the burden of producing information 

deemed adequate by the Hospital for a proper evaluation of current competence, and other qualifications 

and for resolving any doubts. 

CLINICAL 

EXPERIENCE 

(REAPPOINTMENT) 

To be eligible to renew core privileges in emergency medicine, the applicant must meet the following 

maintenance of privilege criteria: Current demonstrated competence and an adequate volume of 

experience with acceptable results, reflective of the scope of privileges requested, for the past 24 months 

based on results of ongoing professional practice evaluation and outcomes. Evidence of current ability to 

perform privileges requested is required of all applicants for renewal of privileges. 

FPPE FPPE criteria will be assigned by the Department Chair during the approval process. 

OTHER 

REQUIREMENTS 
 Note that privileges granted may only be exercised at the site(s) and setting(s) that have the 

appropriate equipment, license, beds, staff, and other support required to provide the services 

defined in this document. Site-specific services may be defined in hospital or department policy. 

 This document is focused on defining qualifications related to competency to exercise clinical 

privileges. The applicant must also adhere to any additional organizational, regulatory, or 

accreditation requirements that the organization is obligated to meet.  

 

 

 

 

74/171



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 2 

 

Emergency Medicine Physician Privileges 

Rev: 02/2025 

EMERGENCY MEDICINE CORE PRIVILEGES - This is not intended to be an all-encompassing procedures list.  It defines 

the types of activities/procedures/ privileges that the majority of practitioners in this specialty perform at this organization and 

inherent activities/ procedures/privileges requiring similar skill sets and techniques 

Requested CHECK ALL PRIVILEGES/PROCEDURES YOU ARE REQUESTING Approved 

☐ Assess, evaluate, diagnose, and initially treat patients of all ages who present in the 

ED with any symptom, illness, injury, or condition and provide services necessary to 

ameliorate minor illnesses or injuries and stabilize patients with major illnesses or 

injuries and to assess all patients to determine if additional care is necessary

☐ 

☐ Abscess incision and drainage, including Bartholin’s cyst ☐ 

☐ Airway management and intubation ☐ 

☐ Administration of sedation and analgesia per hospital policy ☐ 

☐ Administration of thrombolytic therapy for myocardial infarction, stroke ☐ 

☐ Anoscopy ☐ 

☐ Arterial puncture and cannulation ☐ 

☐ Arthrocentesis ☐ 

☐ Anesthesia: intravenous (upper extremity, local, and regional) ☐ 

☐ Bladder decompression and catheterization techniques ☐ 

☐ Blood component transfusion therapy ☐ 

☐ Burn management, including escharotomy ☐ 

☐ Cannulation, artery and vein ☐ 

☐ Cardiac pacing to include but not limited to external, transthoracic, transvenous ☐ 

☐ Cardiac massage, open or closed ☐ 

☐ Cardioversion (synchronized counter-shock) ☐ 

☐ Central venous access (femoral, jugular, peripheral, internal, and subclavian) ☐ 

☐ Chemical restraint of agitated patient ☐ 

☐ Cricothyrotomy ☐ 

☐ Defibrillation ☐ 

☐ Dislocation/fracture reduction/immobilization techniques, including splint and cast 

applications 

☐ 

☐ Electrocardiography interpretation ☐ 

☐ Emergency Vaginal Delivery ☐ 

☐ Endotracheal intubation techniques ☐ 

☐ External transcutaneous pacemaker ☐ 

☐ Focused Abdominal Sonography for Trauma (F.A.S.T) ☐ 

☐ GI decontamination (emesis, lavage, charcoal) ☐ 

☐ Hernia reduction ☐ 

☐ Irrigation and management of caustic exposures ☐ 

☐ Insertion of emergency transvenous pacemaker ☐ 

☐ Intraosseous infusion ☐ 

☐ Laryngoscopy, direct, indirect ☐ 

☐ Lumbar puncture ☐ 

☐ Management of epistaxis ☐ 

☐ Nail trephine techniques ☐ 

☐ Nasal cautery/packing ☐ 

75/171



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 3 

 

Emergency Medicine Physician Privileges 

Rev: 02/2025 

☐ Nasogastric/orogastric intubation ☐ 

☐ Ocular tonometry ☐ 

☐ Oxygen therapy ☐ 

☐ Paracentesis ☐ 

☐ Pericardiocentesis ☐ 

☐ Perform history and physical exam ☐ 

☐ Point of Care Ultrasound ☐ 

☐ Preliminary interpretation of imaging studies ☐ 

☐ Removal of foreign bodies, airway including nose, eye, ear, soft 

instrumentation/irrigation, skin or subcutaneous tissue 

☐ 

☐ Removal of IUD ☐ 

☐ Repair of lacerations ☐ 

☐ Resuscitation ☐ 

☐ Slit lamp used for ocular exam, removal of corneal foreign body ☐ 

☐ Spine immobilization ☐ 

☐ Thoracentesis ☐ 

☐ Thoracostomy tube insertion ☐ 

☐ Thoracotomy, open for patient in extremis ☐ 

☐ Variceal/nonvariceal hemostasis ☐ 

☐ Wound debridement and repair ☐ 

 

 Administration of Sedation and Analgesia 
Must be requested separately. Contact Medical Staff Services for privilege form. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

76/171



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 4 

 

Emergency Medicine Physician Privileges 

Rev: 02/2025 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF APPLICANT 

I have requested only those privileges for which by education, training, current experience, and demonstrated 

performance I am qualified to perform and that I wish to exercise at Hospital, and I understand that: 

a. In exercising any clinical privileges granted, I am constrained by Hospital and Medical Staff policies and rules 

applicable generally and any applicable to the particular situation. 

b. Any restriction on the clinical privileges granted to me is waived in an emergency situation and in such situation 

my actions are governed by the applicable section of the Medical Staff Bylaws or related documents. 
 

Applicant’s Printed Name:      

 

Applicant’s Signature:       Date:      

 

 

DEPARTMENT CHAIR REVIEW 

I have reviewed the requested clinical privileges and supporting documentation and make the following recommendations: 

 

☐ Recommend all privileges as requested 

 

☐ Recommend privileges with conditions/modifications (describe): 

 

 

 

☐ Do not recommend the following requested privileges (rationale for recommendation): 

 

 

 

☐ I assign ________________________________________ to complete the initial FPPE evaluations on this Practitioner. 

 

 

Department Chair’s Printed Name      

 

 

Department Chair’s Signature:       Date:      

 

 

FOR MEDICAL STAFF OFFICE USE ONLY 

Credentials Committee approval Date:    

Medical Executive Committee Approval Date:    

Board of Trustees approval Date:    

 

Privileges Effective From: ____________________ To: ____________________ 
 

Date Form Approved by Specialty:  03/04/2025    

Date Form Approved by Department Chair: 03/11/2025      

Date Approved by Credentials Committee: 03/11/2025    

Date Approved by MEC:   03/25/2025    

Date Approved by Board of Trustees:      

77/171



:PNU�0U 1VPU�9LUL^��O[[WZ!��^LIHWWZ�HJLW�VYN�TLTILYHWWSPJH[PVU�

SVNV

<ZL�VM�:OVY[�*V\YZLZ�PU�,TLYNLUJ`�4LKPJPUL�HZ
*YP[LYPH�MVY�7YP]PSLNPUN�VY�,TWSV`TLU[

9L]PZLK�1HU\HY`�������1HU\HY`�������(WYPS������°

9LHɉYTLK�:LW[LTILY�����

9L]PZLK�1\UL��   �^P[O�J\YYLU[�[P[SL�°1\UL��  ���(\N\Z[��  �

6YPNPUHSS`�HWWYV]LK�1HU\HY`�� ���[P[SLK�¸*LY[PÄJH[PVU�PU�,TLYNLUJ`
4LKPJPUL¹

°

;OL�(TLYPJHU�*VSSLNL�VM�,TLYNLUJ`�7O`ZPJPHUZ��(*,7��ILSPL]LZ�[OH[�IVHYK
JLY[PÄJH[PVU�I`�[OL�(TLYPJHU�)VHYK�VM�,TLYNLUJ`�4LKPJPUL��(),4��VY�[OL
(TLYPJHU�6Z[LVWH[OPJ�)VHYK�VM�,TLYNLUJ`�4LKPJPUL��(6),4��KLTVUZ[YH[LZ
JVTWYLOLUZP]L�[YHPUPUN��RUV^SLKNL��HUK�ZRPSS�PU�[OL�WYHJ[PJL�VM�LTLYNLUJ`
TLKPJPUL��(S[OV\NO�ZOVY[�JV\YZL�JVTWSL[PVU�TH`�ZLY]L�HZ�L]PKLUJL�VM
MVJ\ZLK�YL]PL �̂�[OL�[VWPJZ�JV]LYLK�PU�Z\JO�JV\YZLZ�HYL�WHY[�VM�[OL�JVYL
J\YYPJ\S\T�VM�LTLYNLUJ`�TLKPJPUL��(),4�VY�(6),4�JLY[PÄJH[PVU�PU
LTLYNLUJ`�TLKPJPUL�Z\WLYZLKLZ�L]PKLUJL�VM�JVTWSL[PVU�VM�Z\JO�JV\YZLZ�
(KKP[PVUHSS �̀�THPU[LUHUJL�VM�IVHYK�JLY[PÄJH[PVU�YLX\PYLZ�THUKH[VY`�YL[LZ[PUN
HUK�JVU[PU\PUN�TLKPJHS�LK\JH[PVU��*4,���THRPUN�\WKH[LK�ZOVY[�JV\YZLZ
YLK\UKHU[��:PTPSHYS �̀�IVHYK�JLY[PÄJH[PVU�HUK�THPU[LUHUJL�VM�JLY[PÄJH[PVU�I`
LP[OLY�(),4�VY�(TLYPJHU�)VHYK�VM�7LKPH[YPJZ��()7��PU�WLKPH[YPJ�LTLYNLUJ`
TLKPJPUL�Z\WLYZLKLZ�[OL�ULLK�MVY�JVTWSL[PVU�VM�Z\JO�ZOVY[�JV\YZLZ�

/V^L]LY��MVY�WO`ZPJPHUZ�IVHYK�LSPNPISL�VY�IVHYK�JLY[PÄLK�I`�(),4�VY�(6),4
PU�LTLYNLUJ`�TLKPJPUL���(*,7�Z[YVUNS`�VWWVZLZ�YLX\PYPUN�JVTWSL[PVU�VM
JV\YZLZ�Z\JO�HZ�(K]HUJLK�*HYKPHJ�3PML�:\WWVY[��(*3:���(K]HUJLK�;YH\TH
3PML�:\WWVY[��(;3:���7LKPH[YPJ�(K]HUJLK�3PML�:\WWVY[��7(3:���HUK�)HZPJ
;YH\TH�3PML�:\WWVY[��);3:���VY�H�ZWLJPÄLK�U\TILY�VM�*4,�OV\YZ�PU�H�Z\I�

>OH[

B�-,,+)(*2� �D��/;;7:!��>,)(77:�(*,7�69.�4,4),9:/07�(**6<5;�
�4,::(.,<:&69.$(*,7<93$/;;7:!��>>>�(*,7�69.�7(;0,5;�
*(9,�7630*@�:;(;,4,5;:�<:,�6-�:/69;�*6<9:,:�05�,4,9.,5*@�4,+0*05,�(:�*90;,90(�-69�790=03,.05.�69�,4736@4,5;�

��������������$0 8VH�RI�6KRUW�&RXUVHV�LQ�(PHUJHQF\�0HGLFLQH�DV�&ULWHULD�IRU�3ULYLOHJLQJ�RU�(PSOR\PHQW�_�$&(3

KWWSV���ZZZ�DFHS�RUJ�SDWLHQW�FDUH�SROLF\�VWDWHPHQWV�XVH�RI�VKRUW�FRXUVHV�LQ�HPHUJHQF\�PHGLFLQH�DV�FULWHULD�IRU�SULYLOHJLQJ�RU�HPSOR\PHQW ���78/171



HYLH�VM�LTLYNLUJ`�TLKPJPUL��HZ�JVUKP[PVUZ�MVY�WYP]PSLNLZ��YLUL^HS�VM
WYP]PSLNLZ��LTWSV`TLU[��X\HSPÄJH[PVU�I`�OVZWP[HSZ��NV]LYUTLU[�HNLUJPLZ��VY
HU`�V[OLY�JYLKLU[PHSPUN�VYNHUPaH[PVU»Z�Z[HUKHYKZ�[V�WYV]PKL�JHYL�MVY�KLZPNUH[LK
KPZLHZL�LU[P[PLZ��-VY�WO`ZPJPHUZ�IVHYK�LSPNPISL�VY�IVHYK�JLY[PÄLK�I`�(),4�VY
()7�PU�WLKPH[YPJ�LTLYNLUJ`�TLKPJPUL��(*,7�Z[YVUNS`�VWWVZLZ�[OLZL
HKKP[PVUHS�YLX\PYLTLU[Z�

°

-VY�LTLYNLUJ`�WO`ZPJPHUZ�YLX\PYLK�[V�OH]L�H�JHYK��(*,7�VɈLYZ�P[Z�TLTILYZ�H
ZL[�VM�WLYZVUHSPaLK�JHYKZ��MVY�[OVZL�^OV�H[[LZ[�[OH[�[OL`�HYL�J\YYLU[S`�)VHYK
JLY[PÄLK�I`�(),4�VY�(6),4�
�O[[WZ!��^LIHWWZ�HJLW�VYN�TLTILYZOPW�TLYP[IHKNL�HZW_�

�������(TLYPJHU�*VSSLNL�VM�,TLYNLUJ`�7O`ZPJPHUZ�
;LYTZ�VM�<ZL���^OV�^L�HYL�HIV\[�\Z�HIV\[�\Z�JVU[HJ[�WYP]HJ`�WVSPJ`�HUK�JVW`YPNO[�UV[PJL�
[LYTZ�
7YP]HJ`�7VSPJ`���^OV�^L�HYL�HIV\[�\Z�HIV\[�\Z�JVU[HJ[�WYP]HJ`�WVSPJ`�HUK�JVW`YPNO[�UV[PJL�

B�-,,+)(*2� �D��/;;7:!��>,)(77:�(*,7�69.�4,4),9:/07�(**6<5;�
�4,::(.,<:&69.$(*,7<93$/;;7:!��>>>�(*,7�69.�7(;0,5;�
*(9,�7630*@�:;(;,4,5;:�<:,�6-�:/69;�*6<9:,:�05�,4,9.,5*@�4,+0*05,�(:�*90;,90(�-69�790=03,.05.�69�,4736@4,5;�

��������������$0 8VH�RI�6KRUW�&RXUVHV�LQ�(PHUJHQF\�0HGLFLQH�DV�&ULWHULD�IRU�3ULYLOHJLQJ�RU�(PSOR\PHQW�_�$&(3

KWWSV���ZZZ�DFHS�RUJ�SDWLHQW�FDUH�SROLF\�VWDWHPHQWV�XVH�RI�VKRUW�FRXUVHV�LQ�HPHUJHQF\�PHGLFLQH�DV�FULWHULD�IRU�SULYLOHJLQJ�RU�HPSOR\PHQW ���79/171



Joint Policy Statement Against Medical Merit Badges 
 
 

The American Board of Emergency Medicine (ABEM) and the American Osteopathic Board of 
Emergency Medicine (AOBEM) define the standards for the specialty of Emergency Medicine. 
Certification by ABEM or AOBEM obviates any additional certifications required for medical staff 
privileges or disease-specific care center designations, such as that needed for trauma or stroke 
centers.  
 
Major Emergency Medicine organizations oppose any requirement of additional short courses or 
topic-specific continuing education for board-certified emergency physicians, who are in good 
standing with their medical staff, and who are participating in Maintenance of Certification 
(MOC), Osteopathic Continuous Certification (OCC), or any future program to ensure continued 
Board Certification. Our professional organizations provide the best opportunities for continuous 
professional development in advanced resuscitation, trauma care, stroke care, cardiovascular 
care, procedural sedation, pediatric care, and airway management. ABEM and AOBEM certify 
that this knowledge and these skills have been acquired and are maintained through both MOC 
and OCC.1  
 
Mandates that were developed before Emergency Medicine was a mature specialty are 
unnecessary. The Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) tracks the 
acquisition of critical competencies during residency training. After completing an Emergency 
Medicine residency, the physician must take a secure, comprehensive written examination. 
Once successfully completed, the physician then must pass an Oral Certification Examination 
that emphasizes the evaluation and treatment of complex clinical conditions. 
 

• The core content for emergency medicine training comprehensively covers stroke care, 
cardiovascular care, pediatric acute care, advanced resuscitation, airway management, 
trauma care, procedural sedation, as well as all other areas of emergent care that may 
be required by patients presenting to an emergency department.  

• Initial certification involves both a comprehensive written examination and a rigorous oral 
examination involving the aforementioned areas.  

• MOC and OCC preserve and advance the knowledge and skills in the aforementioned 
areas. 

• Physicians are periodically tested in the previously mentioned areas. 
 
Participation in Maintenance of Certification or Osteopathic Continuous Certification assures 
medical staff that the emergency physician is meeting and exceeding the educational objectives 
thought to be derived from merit badge courses.  
 
Organizations who support this policy statement are the following: 

• American Academy of Emergency Medicine (AAEM) 

• American Academy of Emergency Medicine/Resident and Student Association 
(AAEM/RSA) 

• American Board of Emergency Medicine (ABEM) 

• American College of Emergency Physicians (ACEP) 

• American College of Osteopathic Emergency Physicians (ACOEP) 

• American Osteopathic Board of Emergency Medicine (AOBEM) 

• Association of Academic Chairs of Emergency Medicine (AACEM) 

• Council of Emergency Medicine Residency Directors (CORD) 

80/171



• Emergency Medicine Residents’ Association (EMRA) 

• Society for Academic Emergency Medicine (SAEM) 
 
1 For physicians who are not board certified in Emergency Medicine, or who do not participate in 
either Maintenance of Certification or Osteopathic Continuous Certification, the completion of 
periodic, short courses in focused content areas of Emergency Medicine may be valuable.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

81/171



$$(0�UHFRJQL]HV�WKH�YDOXH�RI�WKH�$7/6�FXUULFXOXP�IRU�QRQ�(0�ERDUGHG�SK\VLFLDQV�DQG
RWKHU�KHDOWK�FDUH�SURYLGHUV�ZKR�QHHG�WR�EH�IDPLOLDU�ZLWK�WKH�SULQFLSOHV�RI�WUDXPD�FDUH�
+RZHYHU��$$(0�EHOLHYHV�WKDW�ERDUG�FHUWLÀFDWLRQ�LQ�(PHUJHQF\�0HGLFLQH�HVWDEOLVKHV
H[SHUWLVH�LQ�WUDXPD�FDUH�EH\RQG�WKDW�ZKLFK�LV�WDXJKW�LQ�WKH�$7/6�FRXUVH�

7KHUHIRUH��$7/6�VKRXOG�QRW�EH�UHTXLUHG�RI�SK\VLFLDQV�ERDUG�FHUWLÀHG�LQ�(PHUJHQF\
0HGLFLQH�

¬

$SSURYHG���������

¬

�*.$/$*)��/�/ ( )/�*)�/# �*.$/$*)��/�/ ( )/�*)�/# �*.$/$*)��/�/ ( )/�*)�/# 
��1�)� ���-�0(��$! ��0++*-/��1�)� ���-�0(��$! ��0++*-/��1�)� ���-�0(��$! ��0++*-/

�*0-. �*0-. �*0-. 

��������������$0 3RVLWLRQ�6WDWHPHQW�RQ�WKH�$GYDQFHG�7UDXPD�/LIH�6XSSRUW�&RXUVH���$$(0

KWWSV���ZZZ�DDHP�RUJ�VWDWHPHQWV�SRVLWLRQ�VWDWHPHQW�RQ�WKH�DGYDQFHG�WUDXPD�OLIH�VXSSRUW�FRXUVH� ���82/171



�KWWSV���H������DG]HUN�QHW�U"
H H\-�,MRL06�[0L,V,P)�,MR\0]<[0'$V,P)�,MR�/&-LG&,�0&ZL<��L2M8�27,Z1&ZL<�JL2M(�27(Z/
&-MD\,�H��V,P1\,MR]1],�1',�1M<V,P5S,MRL0',�1�9K170�='KK1'-P2'KK=M(�0P4�17,�0MGO1'
$L/&-NDL,�0&ZLD:NL2L,Z0]%L1:0Z1P(\<7F�0]4�2'F�=M5P0](Z=74�0',�<6,V,P5W,MR[/&-
P<\,�174�2'<�0'$�/&-PE&,�170�0MN\0]NZ/&-SF&,�,MN�/M([1\�[0M(X17<L/&-XG\,�1'4�
1LZLF*0L2M$V,P�Z,MRZ/&-WF&,�0&ZL=:0L2M$V,PGW,MRZ/&-OF&,�EQ9VE&ZLF+,L2M<[1M$\/&-\G&,
�06ZLFP<L2L-RG+5ZF]RY/�G�G\�QE��QE*8X<��W/\,V,Q-],MR�0'$V,Q1K,MRL17JL/&-]<L,�,PNW0*
<Z1:9L1M<�=7(�=78[0]NL/&-]F&,�0M4�1MF�0\ZLF�4L2M<�07F\/&-�D\,�,Q9O06��1P<�='N]=
'5P<MF�=P0\<71N=M-O0:)K<M1O<�<[=L,V,QSX,MR\27(Z178V,Q5],MR[1],�1',\1'<�1',�/&-L=L,�
G+-�=6ZLF*�L2L-WGN-YH&,V,PGM,MS�FQ9O/&-Q4\,�G+-�=6ZL=�0L2L-XE��O,LZLG+RL2L-%E:9\D:1K
/��OG��=E�-U,LZLG;,L2L-RG+5ZF]RY/�G�G\�W<�[OE�5R=:)VG*JXE�-Q/]��G*�IF���FP1O3:)]F�
�MD:)�D:�X-Q9�E9�W=:5SG:��=*O]F*[KH6=�G*�I<�)WF*)S=���E;9VG*O�D:9�;�5SFP9MG+

%V<:1OE:9XG)�%4891,Q�	V 0�J)-0[YX]1,5�.&3�,J8W&G*[<�

��������������$0 3RVLWLRQ�6WDWHPHQW�RQ�WKH�$GYDQFHG�7UDXPD�/LIH�6XSSRUW�&RXUVH���$$(0

KWWSV���ZZZ�DDHP�RUJ�VWDWHPHQWV�SRVLWLRQ�VWDWHPHQW�RQ�WKH�DGYDQFHG�WUDXPD�OLIH�VXSSRUW�FRXUVH� ���83/171



�KWWSV���ZZZ�DDHP�RUJ�GRQDWH�DDHP�IRXQGDWLRQ�

�0++*-/�/# ��2.0$/
6XSSRUW�WKH�$$(0�3*�YV�(QYLVLRQ�ODZVXLW�E\�GRQDWLQJ�WR�WKH�$$(0�)RXQGDWLRQ�

'RQDWH�1RZ� ;��KWWSV���ZZZ�DDHP�RUJ�GRQDWH�DDHP�IRXQGDWLRQ�

��������������$0 3RVLWLRQ�6WDWHPHQW�RQ�WKH�$GYDQFHG�7UDXPD�/LIH�6XSSRUW�&RXUVH���$$(0

KWWSV���ZZZ�DDHP�RUJ�VWDWHPHQWV�SRVLWLRQ�VWDWHPHQW�RQ�WKH�DGYDQFHG�WUDXPD�OLIH�VXSSRUW�FRXUVH� ���84/171



����(DVW�:HOOV�6WUHHW��6XLWH�����¬
0LOZDXNHH��:,������¬

7HO�����������������RU���������������¬
)D[����������������¬
(PDLO�¬LQIR#DDHP�RUJ

��$PHULFDQ�$FDGHP\�RI�(PHUJHQF\�0HGLFLQH

��������������$0 3RVLWLRQ�6WDWHPHQW�RQ�WKH�$GYDQFHG�7UDXPD�/LIH�6XSSRUW�&RXUVH���$$(0

KWWSV���ZZZ�DDHP�RUJ�VWDWHPHQWV�SRVLWLRQ�VWDWHPHQW�RQ�WKH�DGYDQFHG�WUDXPD�OLIH�VXSSRUW�FRXUVH� ���85/171



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 1 

 

Rev: 2/2025 

Delineation of Privileges 

PEDIATRIC PRIVILEGES 

 

 Initial appointment    Reappointment    Modification of Privileges 

Applicant 

Check the “Requested” box for each privilege requested. Applicants have the burden of producing information deemed adequate by 

the hospital for a proper evaluation of current competence, current clinical activity, and other qualifications and for resolving any 

doubts related to qualifications for requested privileges. 

To be eligible to request privileges in Pediatrics, a practitioner must meet the following minimum threshold criteria: 

 

LICENSURE / 

PROFESSIONAL 

LIABILITY 

INSURANCE 

MD or DO 

Licensed to practice medicine in the State of Wyoming 

Current Wyoming designated DEA Registration and current Wyoming Controlled Substance Registration 

Proof of Professional Liability Insurance in the amounts of at least: Per Claim: $1,000,000.00 Aggregate: 

$3,000,000.00. 

EDUCATION / 

TRAINING 

Completion of an approved residency in Pediatrics by the Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical 

Education (ACGME) or American Osteopathic Association (AOA).  

CERTIFICATION Certification by the applicable Pediatric specialty board for any clinical privileges for which applicant 

has applied, or be eligible for certification by such board.  Once physician is board certified, 

Maintenance of Board Certification is required.  

 Pediatricians who work in the hospital are required to hold PALS and NRP Certification. For 

Pediatricians that only work in the clinic, PALS and NRP is recommended. 

 STABLE certification is encouraged 

CLINICAL 

EXPERIENCE 

(INITIAL) 

Applicants for initial appointment must be able to demonstrate the provision of inpatient care for at least 

12 patients during the last 12 months or demonstrate successful completion of a hospital-affiliated 

accredited residency, special clinical fellowship, or research. Applicants for initial appointment may be 

requested to provide documentation of the number and types of hospital cases during the past 24 months.  

Applicants have the burden of producing information deemed adequate by the Hospital for a proper 

evaluation of current competence, and other qualifications, and for resolving any doubts. 

CLINICAL 

EXPERIENCE 

(REAPPOINTMENT) 

To be eligible to renew core privileges in pediatrics, the applicant must meet the following Maintenance 

of Privilege criteria: Current demonstrated competence and an adequate volume of experience with 

acceptable results in the privileges requested for the past 24 months based on results of quality 

assessment/improvement activities and outcomes.  Evidence of current ability to perform privileges 

requested is required of all applicants for renewal of privileges. 

FPPE FPPE criteria will be assigned by the Department Chair during the approval process. 

OTHER 

REQUIREMENTS 
 Note that privileges granted may only be exercised at the site(s) and setting(s) that have the 

appropriate equipment, license, beds, staff, and other support required to provide the services 

defined in this document. Site-specific services may be defined in hospital or department policy. 

 This document is focused on defining qualifications related to competency to exercise clinical 

privileges. The applicant must also adhere to any additional organizational, regulatory, or 

accreditation requirements that the organization is obligated to meet.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

86/171



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 2 

 

Rev: 2/2025 

 

PEDIATRICS CORE PRIVILEGES - This is not intended to be an all-encompassing procedures list.  It defines the types of 

activities/procedures/ privileges that the majority of practitioners in this specialty perform at this organization and inherent activities/ 

procedures/privileges requiring similar skill sets and techniques.  

Requested CHECK ALL PRIVILEGES/PROCEDURES YOU ARE REQUESTING Approved 

☐ Admit, evaluate, diagnose, treat and provide consultation to patients from birth to young adulthood (birth 

to 18 years of age) with acute and chronic disease including major complicated illnesses, disorders of the 

cardiovascular system, respiratory system, disorders of the kidney and urinary tract, gastrointestinal 

system, disorders of the immune system, connective tissue, and joints, endocrinology and metabolism, 

neurologic disorders, psychiatric disorders, hematologic disorders, and infectious diseases. Assess, 

stabilize, and determine disposition of patients with emergent conditions consistent with medical staff 

policy regarding emergency and consultative call services. Physicians may provide care to patients in the 

intensive care setting, as determined by admitting practitioner, and in conformance with unit policies. 

However, seriously ill pediatric patients needing services usually provided in a pediatric intensive care 

unit should be transferred to a tertiary care facility. Example: Diabetic Keto-Acidosis or Respiratory 

Failure. 

☐ 

☐ Consultation includes: conduct history and assessment for the purpose of making 

recommendations related to care and treatment 
☐ 

☐ Arterial puncture ☐ 

☐ Blood transfusion ☐ 

☐ Burns, superficial  ☐ 

☐ Central venous access ☐ 

☐ Diagnostic workup of allergic disorders without skin tests ☐ 

☐ Digital block anesthesia ☐ 

☐ Emergency Pericardiocentesis ☐ 

☐ Endotracheal intubation ☐ 

☐ External jugular venipuncture ☐ 

☐ Incision and drainage of abscesses ☐ 

☐ Intra-osseous access ☐ 

☐ Lumbar puncture  ☐ 

☐ Minor laceration repair ☐ 

☐ Paracentesis ☐ 

☐ Performance of history and physical exam ☐ 

☐ Phlebotomy ☐ 

☐ Placement of anterior nasal hemostatic packing ☐ 

☐ Platelet transfusion ☐ 

☐ Provide care to newborns, including initial assessment/nursery care/discharge examination, care 

of stable neonate in the Special Care Nursery. 

☐ 

☐ Remove non-penetrating foreign body from the eye, nose, or ear ☐ 

☐ Simple suture ☐ 

☐ Subdural tap ☐ 

☐ Suprapubic bladder aspiration ☐ 

☐ Thoracentesis ☐ 

☐ Thoracotomy/chest tube placement ☐ 

☐ Tracheal aspiration ☐ 

☐ Umbilical artery catheterization ☐ 

☐ Umbilical vein catheterization ☐ 

☐ Urinary bladder catheterization ☐ 

☐ Ventilator management ☐ 

87/171



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 3 

 

Rev: 2/2025 

☐ Ventricular peritoneal shunt tap ☐ 

SPECIAL NON-CORE PRIVILEGES  

If desired, noncore privileges are requested individually in addition to requesting the core. Each individual requesting 

noncore privileges must meet the specific threshold criteria governing the exercise of the privilege requested including 

training, required previous experience, and maintenance of clinical competence. To be eligible to apply for the special 

non-core privileges listed below, the applicant must demonstrate successful completion of an approved, recognized course 

when such exists, or acceptable supervised training in residency, fellowship or other acceptable experience, and provide 

documentation of competence in performing the requested procedure consistent with criteria set forth in medical staff 

policies governing the exercise of specific privileges. 

Requested CHECK ALL PRIVILEGES/PROCEDURES YOU ARE REQUESTING Approved 

☐ Circumcision 

Initial Privileges: Successful completion of formal training in this procedure or the applicant 

must have completed hands-on training in this procedure under the supervision of a qualified 

physician preceptor. Evidence of having performed 10 proctored procedures during training.  

 

Required Current Experience: Demonstrated current competence and evidence of the 

performance of at least 5 procedures in the past 12 months. If applicant hasn’t completed 5 

procedures during the past 12 months, they will need to complete 5 precepted procedures with 

physician preceptor approval before completing this procedure on their own. 
 

Renewal of Privileges: Demonstrated current competence and evidence of the performance of 

at least 10 procedures in the past 24 months based on results of quality 

assessment/improvement activities and outcomes. 

☐ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

88/171



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 4 

 

Rev: 2/2025 

 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF APPLICANT 

I have requested only those privileges for which by education, training, current experience, and demonstrated 

performance I am qualified to perform and that I wish to exercise at Hospital, and I understand that: 

a. In exercising any clinical privileges granted, I am constrained by Hospital and Medical Staff policies and rules 

applicable generally and any applicable to the particular situation. 

b. Any restriction on the clinical privileges granted to me is waived in an emergency situation and in such situation 

my actions are governed by the applicable section of the Medical Staff Bylaws or related documents. 

 

Applicant’s Printed Name:      

 

Applicant’s Signature:       Date:      

 

DEPARTMENT CHAIR REVIEW 

I have reviewed the requested clinical privileges and supporting documentation and make the following 

recommendations: 

☐ Recommend all privileges as requested 

 

☐ Recommend privileges with conditions/modifications (describe): 

 

 

 

☐ Do not recommend the following requested privileges (rationale for recommendation): 

 

 

 

☐ I assign ________________________________________ to complete the initial FPPE evaluations on this 

Practitioner. 

 

Department Chair’s Printed Name      

 

 

Department Chair’s Signature:       Date:      

 

 

FOR MEDICAL STAFF OFFICE USE ONLY 

Credentials Committee approval Date:    

Medical Executive Committee approval Date:    

Board of Trustees approval Date:    

 

Privileges Effective From: ____________________ To: ____________________ 

 
Date Form Approved by Specialty:  02/14/2025    

Date Form Approved by Department Chair: 03/11/2025      

Date Approved by Credentials Committee: 03/11/2025    

Date Approved by MEC:   03/25/2025    

Date Approved by Board of Trustees:       

89/171



 

MHSC Board of Trustees: April 2025 

Chief Clinical Officer (CCO) Report 

Report prepared and submitted by: Kari Quickenden, Pharm.D., MHSA 

1. Medical Imaging added five additional scheduled CT slots per week to improve access and decrease time to the 

third next available appointment.  

2. Construction on the fluoroscopy room continues.  The final clean of the room is tentatively scheduled for 

04/30/2025-05/01/2025.  The new equipment is on-site.  We expect it will be running by mid-May.  We then need 

to bring in Siemens applications for quality assurance and to train staff on the new equipment.  We estimate we 

can perform fluoroscopy on the new equipment by the end of May.  

3. Medical Imaging is crosstraining an existing staff member into MRI due to the recent loss of an experienced MRI 

technologist.  We anticipate she will be able to scan independently in June.  

4. Laboratory Leadership took a field trip to Primary Children’s Hospital to learn about their chemistry analyzers, as 

Primary uses a different vendor.  Our chemistry analyzers will be end of life at the end of 2025.  Various vendors 

have made significant technological advances and turnaround improvements.  For example, our current analyzer 

run time for troponins is 19 minutes, whereas an alternative vendor’s run time is 9 minutes.  Laboratory 

Leadership has included updated quotes for the FY26 capital budget. 

5. Kari Quickenden, Ann Clevenger, and Stephanie Mlinar completed Master TeamSTEPPS training in March.  

Plans are in place to continue integrating TeamSTEPPS communication tools in daily work across the 

departments.  

6. A new member will join the Quality Team on 04/21/2025 in the process improvement position. 

7. The Quality team participated in a certification quality prep course with plans for at least two team members to 

take the certification exam in FY26. 

8. The Quality Team is working with quality reporting systems to transition to Critical Access Hospital (CAH) 

reporting.  Inpatient quality reporting is voluntary as a CAH.  

9. The Quality Team participated in a kick-off call with our new Patient Safety Organization.  The following steps 

include preparation of our occurrence reporting file for upload into their system.  We are currently working on 

preparing the file and mapping the various fields.  

10. CMS plans to release the hospital star rating refresh in April.  The refresh will be based on the October 2024 Care 

Compare Report.  As a reminder, the report is lagging data.  Typically, the hospital star refreshes have occurred in 

July.  

11. We are still awaiting the Critical Access Hospital Survey from the Wyoming Department of Health.  

12. Radiation Oncology received end-of-life notices for the robotic couch and linear accelerator.  We will need to 

replace these items by the end of 2027.  

13. The Sweetwater Cancer Center was awarded a $10,000 grant through the Wyoming Cancer Program to enhance 

psychosocial support for cancer survivors.  This program will entail training three staff members as certified 

wellness coaches and then implementing a Thrive Well program for cancer survivors, which will promote 

physical activity, healthy eating, and mental health. 

14. Senior Leadership met with  Brendan Gemelli, Director of Pharmacy, and Kathy Chang, Cardinal Health 

Pharmacy Account Manager, to review pharmacy operations (financial, regulatory, and clinical) as well as discuss 

future opportunities with 340b eligibility as a Critical Access Hospital.  

15. The Clinical Dietitians opened several additional outpatient appointments in order to decrease the time to the third 

next available appointment.  They were successful in decreasing the time to the third next available appointment 

by 13 days.  

16. The Clinical Dietitians are working with the clinical documentation integrity specialist (CDI) and hospitalists to 

improve malnutrition documentation practices.  

17. The Clinical Dietitians are working with the Dialysis, Informatics, Financial, and Pharmacy teams on a change to 

phosphate binder medications coverage and availability under CMS.  

 

90/171



MHSC Board of Trustees: April 2025 

Chief Experience Officer (CXO) Report 

Report prepared and submitted by Cindy Nelson, SHRM-SCP, FPCC 

 

Patient Experience Pillar 

We continue to utilize our person-centered care culture to improve the patient experience and 

improve the satisfaction for our patients to provide compassionate care to every life we touch for 

every patient, every time.  

A hospital-wide compassion initiative was implemented in March with an emphasis on Active 

Listening for Quarters 1 and 2. In the initiative, we share that in the past improving the 

compassion question scores on our surveys has largely been a focus of nursing departments. To 

move the needle and make meaningful change, we believe we must focus on every team 

member’s responsibility in the patient experience. Through initiatives including education, skill 

development, and role modeling, each team member will have the opportunity to actively 

participate and impact the perception of compassion. We are connecting Planetree (person-

centered care), Press Ganey (patient experience surveys), and TeamSTEPPS (communication) 

resources to show how these are tools to help us work toward fulfilling the mission, vision, 

values, and strategic plan at MHSC. We are sharing compassion data for all surveys and creating 

an “MHSC Overall Average”.  

Department Baseline % 2024 AIM % Stretch % CY2025 thru 
March 

Inpatient 64.90 66.90 67.90 72.50 

Surgery 90.48 92.48 93.48 98.04 

ED 65.71 67.71 68.71 68.09 

Clinics 88.01 90.01 91.01 89.19 

MHSC Average 77.28 79.28 80.28 81.95 
*MHSC’s average is not an official number from Press Ganey. Score was identified by adding up all department scores and dividing by the number of 
departments. The purpose of MHSC’s average is to show the importance of everyone working together to improve our patients’ experiences.  

 

Active listening is when you not only hear what someone is saying but also attune to their 

thoughts and feelings. (Harvard Business Review) 

Active Listening 
Avoid interrupting 
Reflect and paraphrase back what was heard 
Ask open-ended questions 
Be mindful of non-verbal cues 
Summarize the conversation 

    *Source: Press Ganey HCAHPS Solution Starters 

Workgroups continue meeting to develop strategies to improve patient experience and patient 

satisfaction scores in Hospital Environment – Cleanliness & Restfulness (formerly Quietness), 

91/171



Discharge Information, and Care Coordination (formerly Care Transitions). Reports will be 

presented to the Performance Improvement and Patient Safety (PIPS) Committee in April.  

The Patient & Family Advisory Council (PFAC) meets March 31 and the question for discussion 

is, “What does the ‘perfect process’ look like to you when your physician sends an order for tests 

to the Hospital?” Our activity that night is to assist with Central Scheduling process mapping. 

The presentation for the April meeting is the Top 10 Patient Safety Concerns for 2025 and the 

CMS Patient Safety Structural Measures, specifically the role of the PFAC in the attestation 

process for Domain 5.  

The Person-Centered Care Committee reviewed the PCC Exchange Webinar Series “Planetree 

Framework” in-depth insights from Michael Giuliano, President of Planetree, and Dr. Gregory 

Makoul, Planetree's Strategic Advisor (you can find a recording of the session  here). We 

continue to prepare for our Excellence in Person-Centered Care Certification lived experience 

onsite survey. Our application is currently under review by the certification committee. 

Unidine is collaborating with Josie Ibarra, Dietitian, to implement a GEM SERV tablet for 

nurses. This tablet would allow nurses to easily update nutrient counts if a patient doesn't eat 

their meal or consume specific items. By having this tool in place, we can ensure that patients 

receive the proper nutrition, as any missed meals or items can be quickly adjusted in the system. 

We believe this will improve patient care by ensuring that nutritional needs are consistently met, 

even if there are changes in their meal consumption. 

Employee Experience Pillar 

We continue to work to improve employee retention and employee satisfaction for a happier, 

healthier staff by weaving our culture throughout HR and management practices to recruit, 

reward, and retain staff committed to carrying out our mission. We met the turnover goal for 

2024. The goal for CY2025 is 16.2%. We have partnered with Linked In and Indeed for more 

specialized recruiting tools and action plans. We are increasing our focus on stay and exit 

interviews. HR organized an Employee Appreciation Day event with coffee trucks and Cowboy 

Donuts on March 17. We continue to recognize BRAVO recipients and are making plans for 

Hospital Week celebrations in May. 

We understand the importance of the goal to improve our employee engagement scores. 

Department results were distributed to department leaders along with permission to access the 

Press Ganey dashboard to obtain resources to develop action plans for improvement.  

Nutrition Services is now offering their fresh salad bar during lunch on Saturdays and Sundays 

for weekend staff and visitors and are starting to source local, fresh bread for our patients and 

guests. The new Spring Menu was completed April 1.  

 

92/171



MHSC Board of Trustees: April 2025 

Chief Financial Officer (CFO) Report 

Report prepared and submitted by:  Tami Love 

 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY - Revenue decreased in February coming in at $23.3 million, under budget 
by $1.8 million.    Expenses were lower than in the previous month at $10.8 million and under 
budget.  Our bottom line for February was a gain of $300k.  Through the eight months of the fiscal 
year, our gross revenue remains over budget by $650k and expenses are under budget by $1.4 
million.   Revenue is projected to be lower again in March, at $22.8 million and with expenses 
staying stable, the estimated bottom line will be a loss for the month. 

 
CRITICAL ACCESS.  We released about $18 million in Medicare claims the week of February 6.  
There was a delay due to the confusion of having two active Medicare numbers in their system 
which resulted in almost all Medicare payments stopping.   We were notified on Monday, February 
17 that the claims had started processing and received payments the first week of March.  We have 
started releasing CAH claims in small batches and are watching the progress of those claims but 
have not received payment yet.  We will receive our first CAH payments at the end of March/first of 
April.  We still have about $16 million in CAH claims on hold. Historically, Medicare monthly 
payments average $2.5 million per month which is impacting both cash collections and Days Cash 
on Hand.   The State is still working on scheduling their CAH survey, which will be unannounced. 
 
We are beginning to research the requirements of adding Swing beds now that the CAH conversion 
is complete.  The State has sent us several documents to review, and we have a meeting set up with 
another Wyoming hospital to ask questions about their program. 
 
BUDGET.  The department leaders and Fiscal have been working on capital and operating budgets 
for fiscal year 2026.  We have a week full of budget meetings coming up where we meet with each 
department individually and review their budgets line by line.  We will look at scheduling a Board 
Budget workshop in May to review the budget with the Board of Trustees.  The Sweetwater County 
budget is due to the Commissioners April 25.  
 
HFMA Enterprise Membership.   With our new CAH status, we are now eligible for the Enterprise 
membership through Healthcare Financial Management Association (HFMA).  In the past, several 
staff members had individual memberships and now we can offer the benefits of HFMA to 
everyone.  We have enrolled our entire revenue cycle team, patient access, billing, coding, etc., and 
some select Leaders.  Several have already taken advantage of the free educational webinars. 
 
 
 

93/171



 

MHSC Board of Trustees: 4/2025 

Chief Nursing Officer (CNO) Report 

Report prepared and submitted by: Ann Marie Clevenger DNP, RN, NEA-BC 

1. Follow-Up: End-Stage Renal Disease (ESRD) Prospective Payment System (PPS) 

Transitional Drug Add-on Payment Adjustment (TDAPA) 

a. Update: Thanks to Gary Pedri at Rock Springs IV Center for being a collaborative 

community partner and helping us meet our patients' needs beginning April 1. The 

team is collaborating on a method to finalize the bundled payment structure process. 

i. March Information Provided: CMS recently adjusted payment for specific 

renal dialysis medications. The medications will be covered under the 

monthly reimbursement MHSCs receive, which includes per-treatment 

bundled service charges. This results in the patient's inability to obtain 

payment for some of the medications filled by their pharmacy of choice 

(CMS expects these to be included in the per-treatment bundled charges). 

These medications are taken daily with meals. A group has met to discuss 

options as our Cardinal Pharmacy is not a “retail pharmacy.” The group is 

exploring options in our community to serve our patients and their ability to 

obtain the necessary medications.  

2. Care Management Update 

a. Case Management has been busy coordinating patient discharge and transition 

planning for patients who have been admitted and are being seen in the Emergency 

Department. Thank you to Case Management for sharing Karen Meese, RN, as the 

Case Manager with the ED and OB unit to help patients needing services after being 

seen in the ED, and for the Plans of Safe Care regulatory mandate for OB patients. 

3. College Drive: Walk-In Clinic 

a. The Walk-In Clinic remains busy, with 1,687 patients seen overall in February. As of 

the 19th, they had seen 1,103 in March. To help alleviate the strain from the volume, 

the providers and Misty Cozad, Practice Manager, have worked out schedules to 

provide additional help with the Walk-In during busy times in an effort to reduce 

wait times and improve patient satisfaction. Thank you to all the providers at College 

Drive for helping.  

b. College Drive, Misty Cozad and Robyn Owens, Lead Occupational Medicine Nurse, 

have assumed responsibility for a portion of the billing for the Occ Med companies to 

improve communications with the companies and ease the process for billing and 

payments. Positive feedback has been received by several of the contracted 

companies. 

4. Surgical Services 

a. First Case On Time Start 

i. The Surgical Services Team is working on a First Case On Time Start 

(FCOTS) initiative alongside the other data collection performed regularly. It 

began with data collection to obtain a baseline and is being analyzed to 

implement process improvement. Great work to the team and Noreen Hove, 

Director of Surgical Services, in leading these efforts. The data will be 

94/171



presented to the Surgical Services Committee and the Quality of the Board 

for Discussion. 

5. Strategic Initiative: Improving and establishing outreach to the community and outlying areas 

in the following areas- 

a. Community Education: OB and Women’s Services have been actively educating 

within our community. Prenatal Classes are offered in person on the second Tuesday 

of every month, and online options have become available for patients. Megan Guess, 

Director of Women’s Services, has been on the radio twice and will record for 

another station this month. A group of nurses will go to the Evanston Community 

Baby Shower on April 15th to share the services at MHSC. The department has also 

provided marketing materials to the Evanston and Kemmerer facilities. The 

Wyoming DFS and Wyoming Community Nursing will present for the community 

on April 15th at MHSC about the Plans of Safe Care regulatory initiatives. MHSC has 

invited the County Attorney’s Office, local law enforcement, Castle Rock, Pediatric 

and Family Practice Providers, Case Management, and the OB Clinic. This will 

provide an opportunity for an open discussion on meeting regulatory requirements 

within our community. 

b. Mental Health Services: The Sweetwater Behavioral Health Clinic (SBHC) Business 

Proposal is being brought for discussion. The proposal was developed and designed 

based on community requests received in market analysis (community needs 

assessments x 2) and collaborative meetings with stakeholders and our community. It 

culminates in the ability of a Mental Health Nurse Practitioner at MHSC to add to the 

outpatient services provided within our community, with the potential for expansion. 

The Outpatient Clinic will not replace the relationship with Southwest Counseling, 

which is mandated by State Statute to provide services to MHSC as a “gatekeeper,” 

and will continue to see patients presenting for an emergency or in crisis. See below 

for a “snip” from the proposal. 

95/171



 

  

6. Strategic Initiative: Quality and Safety & Patient/Employee Experience- 

a. Thank you to Dr. Opferman for providing interested nurses with Ultrasound Guided 

Intravenous Line training. Many nurses participated and were glad to have the 

opportunity.  

b. MHSC also offers PICC (Peripherally Inserted Central Catheter) Line Placement and 

Services. Trained and competent individuals lead the placement of these lines. 

Thank you to Gretchen VanValkenburg, RN, and Des Stofferahn, NP, for their 

continued service to the community. Gretchen continues to train interested 

individuals to grow the team. 

7. Strategic Initiative: Reduce Staff Turnover & Fiscal Responsibility 

a. Education, Nursing Leadership, and Human Resources have been working on 

initiatives for the last three years to improve recruitment and retention. We are 

pleased to share that from June 1, 2024, through March 2025, we hired 32 RNs, 

losing only two of the 32, a 6.25% turnover rate for new hire RN during that 

timeframe. Also, 19 RNs transferred to other positions within the organization, 

allowing us to retain nursing knowledge at MHSC! Thank you to Patty O’Lexey and 

the education team for monitoring this data as part of their PIPS. 

b. Nurse leaders track and trend when nursing or assistive staff on units are placed on 

low census. This allows for tracking of the process that has been in place. House 

Supervisors are also adding details in the daily census shift reports for transparency. 

Please let me know if you have any additional insight that may be helpful in this report. Thank you for 

being so supportive of the MHSC teams. Ann 

96/171



 

 
Building and Grounds Committee Meeting 

March 18, 2025 

 
 

The Building and Grounds Committee met in regular session via Zoom on March 18, 2025, 

at 2:30 PM with Mr. Marty Kelsey presiding. 

 

In Attendance:  Mr. Marty Kelsey, Trustee 

   Ms. Irene Richardson, CEO 

Ms. Tami Love, CFO 

Mr. Steven Skorcz, Facilities Supervisor 

Mr. Taylor Jones, County Commissioner 

   

 

Mr. Kelsey called the meeting to order once a quorum was established. 

 

Ms. Richardson shared a mission moment. 

 

Mr. Kelsey asked for a motion to approve the agenda. Ms. Richardson made a motion to approve 

the agenda. Ms. Love seconded; the motion passed.  

 

Mr. Kelsey called for a motion to approve the minutes for the February 18, 2025 meeting.  

Ms. Richardson moved to approve the minutes. Mr. Kelsey seconded; the motion passed.  Ms. 

Love abstained as she was not in attendance. 

 

 

Maintenance Metrics 

 

No report available. 

 

Old Business – Project Review 

 

 

Medical Imaging Core and X-ray 

 

Mr. Skorcz reported the structural was completed for the walls.  They are waiting on the lead lined 

doorways to be delivered.  The project is on schedule. 

 

Laboratory Expansion project - SLIB 

 

Mr. Skorcz said the internal steel structure is up.  The first floor has been poured and they are 

hoping to pour the second floor this week depending on the weather.  Ms. Love said we have 

received the fourth request from SLIB for a total so far of $1.9 million.  There is still $2.4 million 

of the SLIB grant and them we will request the matching funds from the County and Foundation 

as needed. 

 

 

 

 

 

97/171



 

 

Minutes of the March 18, 2025, Building & Grounds Committee 

Page 2 

MOB Entrance – SLIB 

 

Mr. Skorcz said they are tracking down the initial asbestos testing reports.  PlanOne is working on 

stamped drawings for the State.  They expect to start the project mid to late April.  Ms. Love said 

we have submitted and received the first SLIB request for this project. 

 

Master Plan 

 

Ms. Richardson said the Senior Leaders are meeting next week to look at Master Plan, prioritized 

projects and potential budget and available funds.  We will have more information to report next 

month.  We will review the prioritized list also.  Ms. Richardson said some options from the Master 

Plan have already changed with the lease of the new NucMed/CT machine.  The new equipment 

will be able to meet the recommendation of having a second CT in the Emergency Room.  

 

Tabled Projects 

 

Foundation Area Renovation – Ms. Love said this space will be discussed in conjunction with the 

Master Plan and prioritized lists as there were several options for this space in the PACT 

recommendations. 

 

 

New Business 

 

Mr. Kelsey asked Commissioner Jones about the Commission meeting held earlier regarding the 

Hospital’s request for capital funds for the OB Suite and Power plant roof projects.  

Commissioner Jones said Commissioner Richards did request we look for grant funds to assist 

with the OB project.  Ms. Richardson said we have begun looking into available grant funds for 

this project.  Ms. Love said we will present the Power plant roof project to Finance & Audit next 

week and should be able to use the current year’s maintenance funds for this project. 

 

 

Other 

 

The committee charter review was tabled until the next meeting. 

 

The next meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, April 15, 2025; 2:30pm. 

 

Mr. Kelsey adjourned the meeting at 2:52 pm. 
 

 

Submitted by Tami Love 

98/171



Governance Committee Meeting 
March 17, 1025 

1:30 p.m. 
 

Attendance: Marty Kelsey, Chair; Barbara Sowada (filing in for Kandi Pendleton; 
Irene Richardson; Geoff Phillips, Legal Counsel 
 
The Committee considered the following three new Board of Trustees policies: 
 
“Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance 
Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County.” 
Motion to approve by Irene Richardson, Second by Barbara Sowada; Motion 
approved unanimously. 
 
“Policies, Standards, Plans, Procedures/Processes, Guidelines and Forms” 
Motion to approve by Irene Richardson, Second by Barbara Sowada; Motion 
approved unanimously. 
 
“MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix” 
Motion to approve by Irene Richardson, Second by Barbara Sowada; Motion 
approved unanimously. 
 
These policies will go to the April regular meeting of the Board of Trustees for first 
reading in New Business. 
 
Geoff Phillips indicated that there are a few policies that need tweaking if these 
policies are approved. These will be brought to the Governance Committee for 
consideration. 
 
The next meeting is scheduled for the third Monday in April at 1:30 p.m. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 1:55 p.m. 
 
 
 
 

99/171



1 

 

Executive Update – MHSC Board Quality Committee Meeting 
PROVIDED BY Stephanie Mlinar, Kari Quickenden, Ann Clevenger, Tami Love, Irene Richardson, Cindy Nelson 

REPORTING DATE March 2025 Board Quality Committee Monthly Meeting  

General Highlights 

• Infection Prevention education presented to Quality Committee 

• Quarterly Strategic Plan update reviewed 

• Outpatient safety indicators and third next available appointments discussed 

Patient Experience Pillar 

FY 2025 Priorities and Goals: 

• Care Coordination (HCAHPS)*:                                          54.96% by end of CY 2025, stretch goal 55.96%  
    (re-evaluate goals in June ‘25)   Baseline data: CY 2024 – 52.96% 
 

• Discharge information (HCAHPS)*:                       90.72% by end of CY 2025, stretch goal 91.72%                                                                            
                                                                                            (re-evaluate goals in June ’25)    Baseline data:  CY 2024 – 88.72% 

 
Additional Strategic Objectives: 

• Degree to which all staff showed compassion (HCAHPS)*    66.90% by end of CY 2025, stretch goal 67.90% 
                                                                                      (re-evaluate goals in June ’25) Baseline data: CY 2024 - 64.90% 

 

• Hospital Environment (HCAHPS)* 
o Cleanliness sub measurement:                                       74.24% by end of CY 2025, stretch goal 75.24%                                                            

                                                                                      Baseline MHSC data (CY 2024): 72.24% 
 

o Quietness sub measurement:                                        64.55% Baseline MHSC data (CY 2024):   62.55% 
 

Strategic Initiatives: 

• Formal leader training program  

• Dedication of one Senior Leadership meeting per month for implementation and management of 3-year strategic plan 

 
 

Accomplishments Issues Impact Action Plan 

Care Coordination 
 

   
Nursing leadership met to re-evaluate 
the plan and goals Discharge Information:   

 
  

Compassion:  
OB, MS and MOB clinics  

   
Hospital-wide compassion initiative roll 
out.  First and second phase:  Active 
listening 
 

 
Hospital Environment – 
Cleanliness:   
 

   
Updating EVS cards 
Scheduling additional education for 
communication regarding cleanliness 
with patients and visitors 
 

Hospital Environment – 
Quietness:  

   
Nursing leadership met to re-evaluate 
the plan and goals 
 

Formal leader training:   
 

None identified  Exploring additional Peak Leadership 
Training 
Person Centered Care culture leadership 
training for new leaders 
Proposing Just Culture training for 
leaders 

Dedication of one Senior Leader 
meeting per month for Strategic 
Plan 

None identified 
 

  
This is ongoing. 
 

 

100/171



2 

 

Employee Experience Pillar 

Strategic Objectives:  

• Reduce staff turnover by 10% per year, using the current turnover rate 

o Baseline CY 2024: 18%                                               Target goal CY 2025:  16.2% with a stretch goal of 15.3% 

• Improve our employee engagement scores by 3% per year 

Initiatives: 

• Hire a consultant to evaluate and review salaries at a minimum of every three years 

• Comprehensive program for directors to develop relationships, etc. 

• Develop plan for success sharing bonus for employees if goals are reached 

 

Accomplishments Issues Impact Action Plan 

Reduce Staff turnover by 10% 
per year, using the current 
turnover rate. 
 
Additional goal to remain 
under national staff turnover 
rate (YTD 22.7%) 
   

 
 
None identified 

 The plan continues to be documented 
in the tracking system. 
Cross-trained staff list available and 
being used for retention.  Over 40 
nursing staff are cross-trained and 
competent to provide care in 
additional units. 

Employee Engagement Survey  The goal lists that it will 
improve by 3% per 
year. This survey is 
conducted every 2 
years. 

A new survey vendor was 
used for the Employee 
Engagement Survey. 
Calculating a percentage 
increase may prove 
difficult because a baseline 
is different between the 
vendors.  

The Employee Engagement survey 
was completed in October 2024.  HR 
will present overall findings 
 
We will be able to look at engagement 
scores in 2026 if we keep the current 
schedule and vendor. 

Salaries were reviewed with 
adjustments made at the 
beginning of FY 2025 

  Hiring a consultant to review salaries 
is being budgeted for FY 2026. 

Comprehensive program for 
Directors (also listed under 
patient experience pillar) 

  As documented in the Patient 
Experience Pillar 

Success sharing bonus 
implemented at the end of June 
2024 

  Evaluation of the ability to offer 
success sharing bonuses will occur in 
June 2025. 

 
 
 

Quality & Safety Pillar 

FY 2025 Priorities and Strategic Objectives: 

• C. Diff: No more than one reportable case from 4/1/2024 to 3/31/2025 (re-evaluate goals in April ’25) 

• SEP-1 Bundle Compliance: 78% compliance by 6/30/2025, stretch goal 83% (re-evaluate in June ’25) 

• OP23 -Stroke measure: 95% compliance by 6/30/2025, stretch goal 100% (re-evaluate in June ’25) 

Initiatives: 

• Create process improvement position that will require Lean training and be responsible for leading improvement efforts 

• Create patient and staff education 

• 100% of clinical staff will complete TeamSTEPPS training by the end of three years 

• In-house legal counsel will provide a “risk management minute” quarterly each year and provide a recording for all staff 

• Develop methods that will allow Synergi to categorize reports and create ability to track and trend data 

• Utilize Health Equity Plan to promote the highest quality outcomes and safest care for all people 

 

 

101/171



3 

 

Accomplishments Issues Impact Action Plan 

 
C. Diff: 
BioFire testing is available with 
reflex testing.   
 
Meeting goal 

 
None identified 

 
Interdisciplinary review 
resulted in improved 
process. 

 
Continued monitoring. 

 
Sep-1 Bundle Compliance: 
 
Goal met 
 

 
Continuing to work 
through identified 
process 
barriers/challenges 
 

  
Continue weekly OFIs with timely 
feedback to team members. 
 

 
OP 23 – Stroke Measure: 
 
Meeting goal 

 
None identified 

  
Continued monitoring 

 
Process Improvement position   

  Interviews were held and candidate to 
start on April 21st. 
 

 
Create Staff and Patient 
Education:  Staff education – 
Prosper training held for 
evidence-based research 
regarding suicide prevention 
offered by community agency 
 
Patient education – educator 
hired, meeting goal 
 

 
None identified 

 Staff: Annual education will be 
completed by the end of March.  Several 
courses offered including Trauma Nurse 
Certification Course (TNCC), Advanced 
Cardiac Life Support (ACLS), Advanced 
Pediatric Life Support (PALS).  Multiple 
other in-house education was provided. 
 
Patient: 
Reviewing health literacy tools. 
Shadowing at U of U with unit 
Educator. Evaluating educational tools 
for patients to include in FY 2026. 

Initiative regarding 
TeamSTEPPS. Attendance 
Tracking is in place and the 
activities are open to clinical and 
non-clinical staff.   Current 
clinical staff 83% completion.  
Non-clinical staff 19% 
 

 
None identified 

 
Improve inter-and 
intradepartmental 
communication 

Three sessions for each of the three 
levels are available for staff to sign up 
each month. 
Monthly report sent to leadership with 
updates on compliance. 
Milestone goal for June 2025 – 85% 
completion rate for clinical staff. 
 

Risk management minutes are 
being presented at medical staff 
meetings. 

None identified Provide education for 
staff, including employed 
medical staff 

In-house legal counsel continues to 
bring risk management minutes to 
medical staff meetings. 

Synergi report categorization 
with further development for 
HIPAA, grievance/complaint, 
and process improvements 

None identified Further categorization 
increases tracking and 
trending capabilities 

The Patient Safety Organization (PSO) 
contract executed, will begin project 
build within the next two to three 
months. 

Health Equity: AHA HETA 
assessment completed. Tailored 
MHSC’s HE plans and charter 
to match resources and strategic 
goals. 

None identified  Align the age-friendly structural 
measures with health equity efforts. 

 

Regulatory Readiness 

• Departmental rounding continues with collaboration between the Quality Department, Safety Officer and Infection 

Preventionist 

• Joint Commission chapter reviews are resuming 

 

 

 

 

102/171



4 

 

Community, Services and Growth Pillar 

Strategic Objectives: 

• Improve and establish outreach to community and outlying areas  

(Baseline data unavailable, goals are being set by each team) 

o Community education 

o Diabetes Education 

o Care for the caregiver 

o Mental health 

• Improve from a Google 2-star Rating to a Google 3-star rating by the end of three years 
 

Initiatives: 

• Utilize master plan to identify areas where we can provide outreach to outlying areas 

• Develop a strategic communication/marketing plan 

• Increase number of community presentations 

 

 

Accomplishments 
 

Issues Impact Action Plan 

Community Education goal is 
to have a total of 7 
presentations in 2024   
Goal met 
 
 
 
Radiation Oncology is working 
with in-house translators to 
provide Spanish documents in 
the education binder for new 
patients. 
 

Scheduling can 
sometimes be difficult. 
Some departments are 
not as comfortable with 
public speaking. 
 
 
Documents from 
outside entities are not 
in Spanish 

None identified at this 
time 
 
 
 
 
 
 
None identified at this 
time 

Young at Heart Lunch & Learn-
Jan. 28 
Rock Springs Chamber of 
Commerce-Feb. 13 
Rock Springs Health Academy- 
Feb. 13 

Currently have planned presentations: 
School District #1 Retired 
Teachers-March 3 
Rock Springs Health Academy-
March 5 
Young at Heart Lunch & Learn- 
April 22 

 
Monthly radio spots with KREO 
 

Diabetes Education: Diabetic 
Self-Management Education 
(DSME) site change from 
Public Health to MHSC. There 
were five referrals in the first 
week upon the transition from 
Public Health to MHSC. 

None identified at this 
time 

RN patient educator 
performs the nurse visit, 
and the Director of 
Education is the DSME 
Quality Coordinator. 
Medical Nutrition 
Therapy (MNT) continues 
through MHSC 
Dieticians. Potential 
impact to increase 
appointments as the RN 
patient educator meets 
with patients while 
hospitalized.  

Contract renewed.  Referrals are 
being scheduled. 

Care for the Caregiver: 
Care for the Caregiver team 
members will 
attend/participate/present at 2 
public events to meet the 
community members we serve, 
network with other service 
providers, and build 
relationships in our community 
in 2024.  Goal exceeded for CY 
2024 with 3 events attended. 
 

None identified None identified 2025: Care for the Caregiver team 
members will attend/ participate/ 
present at 4 public events  
MHSC will have an employee train 
and be the SWC 211 Ambassador. 
Caregivers need to know the services 
and providers available to them in our 
county and state.  
The employees of MHSC are the 
largest group of caregivers in our 
county and planning is in place for 
providing support. 
 
 

103/171



5 

 

Accomplishments 
 

Issues Impact Action Plan 

Mental Health:    8 hours of telehealth offered for 
outpatients on Wednesdays.  
Feedback is positive and patients are 
returning for further visits. 

Improve Google Star Rating 
Meeting and exceeding the goal 

None identified   

Utilize Master Plan:  no update 
at this time, planning in 
progress 
 

  Senior leaders will meet to discuss 
priorities. 

Marketing plan is focusing on 
nutrition and sharing our 
successes, on target to meet 
goal 

None identified   

Chronic Care Management is 
working toward increasing 
Medicare annual wellness visits. 
Goal is exceeded as of 
12/4/2024. 

None identified   

 

Financial Stewardship Pillar 

Strategic Objectives: 

• Improve revenue cycle using CliftonLarsenAllen recommendations 
o Improve Days of Cash on Hand by 10% each year for three years  FY25 = 119, FY26 = 131, FY27 = 144 
o Reduce and maintain Days in A/R to 45 days by the end of 2024  CY 24 Jan-Jul Average 63 days 
o Maintain the level of claims denials at state and national benchmarks (target goal <15% by end of FY 2025) 

CY 24 Apr-June 24.7% 
o Reduce and maintain Days Not Final Billed (DNFB) at five days by the end of 2024  

CY 24 Jan-Aug Average 10.1 days 

• Build the MHSC County Maintenance Fund to $2,000,000 by the end of three years 
7/1/2024 $500,000 rolled over 

• Build and maintain the building fund to the amount of depreciation expense by the end of three years 
6/30/2024 $7,000,000 

• Decrease the number of Nursing and Respiratory Therapy travel staff by 30% per year for three years 
Goal for CY 2024 is a combined RN/RT travel staff of 11.9 using a baseline CY 2023 of 17 total RN/RT travel staff 
Additional goal contract staff expenditure total less in total for CY 2024 compared to CY2023 

Initiatives: 

• Work with the County Commissioners to set the annual budget to achieve the $2,000,000 goal over the three-year strategic 

plan and still allow for adequate funds in the annual budget for routine maintenance 

• Supplement the building fund from monthly, quarterly, or annual contributions from cash flow from operations to achieve 

the total amount of depreciation expense by the end of three-year strategic plan 

• Nursing leadership will work with Human Resources to recruit and retain permanent staff and reduce travel staff by 30% 

per year 

 

Accomplishments Issues Impact Action Plan 

Improve days of cash on hand Slow release of billing 
with CAH Medicare 
Number 

Altering the current 
amount of days of cash 
on hand 

 

Reduce and maintain Days in A/R Slow release of billing 
with CAH Medicare 
Number 

Altering current number 
of days in AR 

 

Maintain the level of claims denials No identified issues   

Reduce and maintain Days Not 
Final Billed:  DNFB split into HIM 
and PFS cases 

Slow release of billing 
with CAH Medicare 
Number 

Altering current number 
of days in AR 

 

Build the MHSC County 
Maintenance Fund 

 Pending property tax 
legislation may change 
this initiative 

Request for carryover funds will be made 
in April 2025 
 
 

104/171



6 

 

Accomplishments Issues Impact Action Plan 

Build and maintain the building 
fund:  receipt of QRA funds 
helped replenish the building fund. 

Conversion to Critical 

Access billing held 

since Oct. 1 

  

Decrease the number of Nursing 
and Respiratory Therapy travel 
staff: 
Contracted with Linked-In 
Targeted adds with Indeed 
Targeted Facebook adds 

National staffing 
shortages. 
 
Colleges are not seeing 
the same level of 
enrollment or limited 
capacity for students. 

 
 
Not having travel staff for 
Med Surg, this will have 3 
RNs for day/night shift 
and limit bed capacity to 
15 patients. 

Continue to “grow our own” through 
scholarships. 
Cross-training 
Preceptor incentive 
NEMO program for new nurses to have 
mentors 

Alignment of individual 
departmental performance 
improvement projects (PIPS) has 
identified two additional areas for 
financial stewardship. 

None identified   Surgical Services – working on endo 
room turnover times, nearing goal 
Patient Navigation – working on a self-
pay project, meeting goal 

 

105/171



 

 MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
Finance & Audit Committee Meeting 

March 26, 2025 
 

 

Voting Members Present:  Mr. Marty Kelsey, Trustee – Chairman 

     Ms. Craig Rood, Trustee 

     Ms. Irene Richardson, CEO      

Ms. Tami Love, CFO 

Ms. Jan Layne, Controller 

 

Non-Voting Members Present: Ms. Angel Bennett, Director of Materials 

Mr. Ron Cheese, Director of Patient Financial Services 

Mr. Terry Thompson, Director of IT 

Dr. David Dansie, Medical Staff 

 

Non-Voting Members Absent: Dr. Ann Marie Clevenger, CNO 

Dr. Kari Quickenden, CCO 

 

Guests:    Ms. Carrie Canestorp, Director of HIM 

     Mr. Gerry Johnston, Director of Facilities    

     Ms. Cindy Nelson, CXO 

     Mr. Taylor Jones, County Commissioner 

     

               

     Call Meeting to Order 
 

Mr. Kelsey called the meeting to order via teleconference at 2:00 PM.  

 

Mission Moment 

 

Ms. Richardson shared a mission moment involving positive comments shared by a visiting 

Nurse Practitioner candidate.  

 

Approve Meeting Minutes 
 

A motion to approve the meeting minutes from March 4, 2025, was made by Mr. Rood; second 

by Ms. Richardson. Motion carried. 

 

Capital Requests FY25 

 

FY25-45 

 

The motion to approve Capital Request FY25-45 for a power plant roof replacement and fall 

protection as presented and following discussion was made by Mr. Rood; second by Ms. 

Richardson. Motion carried. Ms. Love said we are hoping to use County Maintenance Funds for 

reimbursement. The work must be complete before the end of the fiscal year for us to request 

reimbursement. Mr. Kelsey said it is of utmost important to get this done in a timely way.  

 

106/171



 

 

Minutes of the March 26, 2025, Finance & Audit Committee 

Page 2 

FY25-46 

 

The motion to approve Capital Request FY25-46 for Synology offsite backup as presented and 

following discussion was made by Mr. Rood; second by Ms. Love. Motion carried.  

 

Financial Report 

 

Ms. Love reviewed the narrative highlights, critical access update, and financial goals 

information in the meeting packet. She reviewed the impact of outstanding Medicare claims 

billing. She said we are submitting in batches to not inundate their system. The reimbursement 

coming in is from billing under our old number as well as our new number. Mr. Cheese said we 

are pushing to be caught up on submissions by May. He said Payzen has been a great addition 

and they tell us the expected return is 70%. Mr. Cheese said the public has embraced it so far. He 

reviewed the bad debt information and said he hopes the number will come down with the 

Payzen option. Ms. Love said the State still has to complete a survey for our licensing. They told 

her they are trying to get us in their schedule. Ms. Love said they continue to issue three-month 

provisional licenses. We are exploring the option of including swing beds.  

 

Old Business 

 

CLA Project – Financial goals 

 

Ms. Love said we are using a report Mr. Cheese created to continue to track the project goals. 

Mr. Cheese reviewed the details in the packet. He said he will prepare and present monthly. Mr. 

Kelsey thanked Mr. Cheese for the information and said it appears we are addressing any areas 

of focus.  

 

Outsourcing Aging A/R 

 

Mr. Cheese provided an update. He said the company we are working with is showing progress.  

 

Finance Packet Data Discussion 

 

Ms. Love invited the Trustees to continue to let us know the changes needed or any other 

information they want to see in the meeting packet.  

 

     New Business 

 

Quarterly Strategic Plan Update 

 

Ms. Love said the update will be added to the Committee packet on a quarterly basis.  

 

Next Meeting 

 

The next meeting is scheduled Wednesday, April 30 at 2:00 PM.  

 

Meeting adjourned at 2:59 PM. 

107/171



108/171



109/171



110/171



111/171



112/171



113/171



114/171



115/171



116/171



117/171



118/171



119/171



120/171



121/171



122/171



123/171



124/171



125/171



126/171



127/171



128/171



129/171



130/171



131/171



132/171



133/171



134/171



135/171



136/171



137/171



138/171



139/171



140/171



141/171



142/171



143/171



144/171



145/171



146/171



147/171



148/171



149/171



150/171



151/171



152/171



153/171



154/171



155/171



156/171



157/171



158/171



159/171



160/171



161/171



162/171



163/171



 

MHSC Board of Trustees Report 
April 2025 

Business 
 The Foundation hosted “Give Where You Live” Day for the BOOST Leadership Academy in March. 

This was to help leaders throughout our community understand the essential role nonprofits 

play in sustaining the community which we all love and live in.  

Grants 
 $10,000 Grant Received from Wyoming Cancer Program for a Survivorship Wellness project  

 $6,000 ACS Received for transportation assistance  

 $4,500 Donated from the Eagles to Cancer Center 

 $4,800 Grant Received in support for Cancer Survivors during “survivorship night.” 

 $10,000 Grant Submitted for Breast Boutique for Breast Cancer patients  

Recent Building Donations 
 $50,000 Donation received (Will include naming rights) 

Brick/ Plaque Donations  
 $11,500 Donations received in February  

 

Upcoming Events 
WYOGIVES- July 16th – An annual event that supports Wyoming nonprofits and gives us the opportunity to new 
donors. Please marek your calendar to give online this day! More information will be sent out!  

Casino Night- August 22nd at the Events Complex….. Stay tuned for more information!  
 

 

Report Submitted By: Kayla Mannikko 

164/171



165/171



166/171



167/171



168/171



169/171



170/171



171/171


	Agenda - April 2, 2025 Mtg
	Employee Policies – Access to Personnel Files
	Approval of Meeting Minutes
	FY 25 45 Power Plant Roof Replacement and Fall Protection
	FY 25 46 Synology Offsite Backup
	Orientation Memo Board Quality Charter - Second Read 4.2.2025 Stephanie Mlinar
	Quality Committee Charter-Draft February 2025
	Behavioral Health Plan
	Policies from the Governance Committee
	1. Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
	MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix
	Policies, Standards, Plans, Procedures_Processes, Guidelines and Forms
	Request from the Medical Staff
	Privileges Emergency Medicine r 02.14.25
	ACEP support statement_ Use of Short Courses
	Joint Policy Statement against medical merit badges
	AAEM support statement_
	Changes to the Pediatric Privileges
	Chief Clinical Officer
	Chief Experience Officer
	Chief Financial Officer
	Chief Nursing Officer
	Building and Grounds Committee
	Governance Committee
	Quality Committee
	Finance and Audit Comm Minutes March 26 2025 Draft
	F&A Part 1 of 2 for April 2025
	F&A 2 of 2 for April 2025
	Self Pay Plan for March 2025
	Preliminary Potential Bad Debt for March
	Foundation Board Report
	Check List for Wolters Kluwer April 2025
	Wolters Kluwer Health April 2025
	RQI Program Renewal Change Form
	University of Utah Telemedicine Master Services Agreement Amendment No. 1

